
 
 
 
 

CABINET 
AGENDA 

 
Wednesday, 9 September 2009 

 
The Jeffery Room 

 
6:00 pm 

 
 

 
Members of the Cabinet: 
 
Councillor: Tony Woods (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor: Brian Hoare (Deputy Leader) 
Councillors: Sally Beardsworth, Richard Church, 
  Trini Crake, David Perkins, Paul Varnsverry 
 
 
Chief Executive  David Kennedy 
 
If you have any enquiries about this agenda please contact Annie May 837355 or Jo Darby 
837089  
 



 
PORTFOLIOS OF CABINET MEMBERS 
 
CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO TITLE 
Councillor A. Woods Leader 

Partnership and Improvement 
 

Councillor B. Hoare Deputy Leader 
Engagement 
 

Councillor S. Beardsworth Housing 
 

Councillor R. Church Planning and Regeneration 
 

Councillor T. Crake Environment 
 

Councillor D. Perkins Finance 
 

Councillor P.D. Varnsverry Communities 
 

 
SPEAKING AT CABINET MEETINGS 
Persons (other than Members) wishing to address Cabinet must register their intention to do so by 12 noon on the day of 
the meeting. 
 
Registration can be by: 
 
Telephone:  (01604) 837101, 837089, 837355, 837356 
   (Fax 01604 838729) 
 
In writing:  The Borough Solicitor,  

The Guildhall, St Giles Square, Northampton NN1 1DE 
For the attention of the Democratic Services Officer 
 

By e-mail to  democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk 
 
Only thirty minutes in total will be allowed for addresses, so that if speakers each take three minutes no more than ten 
speakers will be heard.  Each speaker will be allowed to speak for a maximum of three minutes at each meeting.  Speakers 
will normally be heard in the order in which they registered to speak.  However, the Chair of Cabinet may decide to depart 
from that order in the interest of hearing a greater diversity of views on an item, or hearing views on a greater number of 
items.  The Chair of Cabinet may also decide to allow a greater number of addresses and a greater time slot subject still to 
the maximum three minutes per address for such addresses for items of special public interest. 
 
Members who wish to address Cabinet shall notify the Chair prior to the commencement of the meeting.  Such addresses 
will be for a maximum of three minutes unless the Chair exercises discretion to allow longer.  The time these addresses 
take will not count towards the thirty minute period referred to above so as to prejudice any other persons who have 
registered their wish to speak. 
 
KEY DECISIONS 
� denotes the issue is a ‘Key’ decision: 
 
• Any decision in relation to the Executive function* which results in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the 

making of saving which are significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 
decision relates. For these purpose the minimum financial threshold will be £50,000;   

 
• Where decisions are not likely to involve significant expenditure or savings but nevertheless are likely to be significant 

in terms of their effects on communities in two or more wards or electoral divisions; and 
 

• For the purpose of interpretation a decision, which is ancillary or incidental to a Key decision, which had been 
previously taken by or on behalf of the Council shall not of itself be further deemed to be significant for the purpose of 
the definition. 

 



 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CABINET 
Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held at the The Jeffery 
Room on Wednesday, 9 September 2009 at 6:00 pm. 

 
D Kennedy 

Chief Executive  

AGENDA 

 
 1. APOLOGIES    
   

 2. MINUTES    
   

 3. DEPUTATIONS/PUBLIC ADDRESSES    
   

 4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
   

 5. ISSUES ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES   

 

   

 6. WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE JOINT STRATEGIC PLANNING 
COMMITTEE: MINUTES OF 6 JULY 2009   

 

   

 7. CUSTOMER FEEDBACK ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09   

  Report of the Director of Finance and Support  

 

   

 8. WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION (WNDC) QUINQUENNIAL REVIEW - 
RESPONSE TO CLG CONSULTATION IN RESPECT OF 
URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONS   

  Report of the Director of Planning and Regeneration  

 

   

 9. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS   

  THE CHAIR TO MOVE: 
“THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM THE 
REMAINDER OF THE MEETING ON THE GROUNDS THAT 
THERE IS LIKELY TO BE DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF SUCH 
CATEGORIES OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED BY 
SECTION 100(1) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS 
LISTED AGAINST SUCH ITEMS OF BUSINESS BY 
REFERENCE TO THE APPROPRIATE PARAGRAPH OF 
SCHEDULE 12A TO SUCH ACT.”  

 

 



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Monday, 6 July 2009 

 
 

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE JOINT STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 6 July 2009 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor Anthony Woods (Chair); Councillor Chris Millar  (Deputy Chair); 

Councillors Wendy Amos, Sandra Barnes, Jim Bass, Robin Brown, Richard 
Church, Stephen Clerke, Keith Davies, Jane Hollis, Ken Melling, Andre 
Gonzales de Savage, John Townsend, Paul Varnsverry and Mr David 
Dickinson.  

  

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN 

The Chief Executive of South Northamptonshire Council called for nominations for the 
appointment of a Chairman. 
 
Councillor Chris Millar proposed and Councillor Sandra Barnes seconded that Councillor 
Tony Woods be appointed Chairman of the Joint Planning Committee for the ensuing year. 
 
RESOLVED: That Councillor Woods be appointed Chairman of the Joint Planning 

Committee. 
 
The Chairman welcomed members of the public to the meeting and explained that the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee had been established by statute to be 
the planning policy authority for West Northamptonshire.  The Councillors of the Committee 
had been appointed by their respective councils and there were three observers who had 
non-voting rights from Wellingborough Borough Council (as being affected by some of the 
potential growth), West Northamptonshire Development Corporation (as the delivery vehicle 
that would be making the development control decisions) and a representative of the Labour 
Party as the life of the strategy would be until 2026.  The Joint Planning Committee was 
supported by the Joint Planning Unit, which comprised professional planning officers, and it 
was also supported by a senior officer from each of the Councils sitting on the Programme 
Board.  The Joint Planning Committee would set the overall planning policy and each 
council would have its own policies within that framework, for example, Northampton 
Borough’s Central Area Action Plan.  Furthermore, each District Council and the West 
Northamptonshire Development Corporation would make development control decisions 
within that framework.   
 
The decision that the Joint Planning Committee would be making at this meeting was to 
approve the emergent Joint Core Strategy for public consultation.  In November a pre-
submission draft would be published for consultation prior to being submitted to the 
Secretary of State in March 2010.  It was hoped that as many people as possible would 
contribute to the formal consultation period.  The Chairman explained that the headline 
figures of housing and jobs had been set by Government and the Regional Assembly and 
could not be reduced, however a higher number of homes and jobs could be planned for.  
The Joint Planning Committee was attempting to do the best it could for West 
Northamptonshire; and jobs and infrastructure would be vital to the success of the Strategy.   
 
The Chairman explained that anyone wishing to object to any of the proposals contained in 
the emergent Joint Core Strategy would need to give reasons to support their objection, for 
example that the flood risk assessment for a particular area indicated that the land in 
question was not suitable for the proposed development or that a proper traffic assessment 

Item No:  

6 
Northampton Borough Council 
Cabinet Meeting 09 September 2009 

Agenda Item 6



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Monday, 6 July 2009 

study had not been carried out.  Objections should make reference to and use the evidence 
base, which had been published on the Internet.  It would also be helpful if such objections 
also made suggestions as to where the development could go, equally referring to the 
evidence base, for example that in this location there was no flood risk and that the 
highways network was suitable to serve the proposed development.  The Chairman 
commented that these plans would have a life of up to thirty years and clearly not all the 
development would happen quickly.  The Joint Planning Committee felt that it was important 
to get the maximum benefit for the existing population and for new people coming into the 
area.   
  
 

2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE- CHAIRMAN 

The Chairman called for nominations for the appointment of a Vice-Chairman. 
 
Councillor Sandra Barnes proposed and Councillor Richard Church seconded that 
Councillor Chris Millar be appointed Vice-Chairman of the Joint Planning Committee for the 
ensuing year. 
 
RESOLVED: That Councillor Chris Millar be appointed Vice-Chairman of the Joint 

Planning Committee for the ensuing year.   
  
 

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

None. 
  
 

4. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 21 APRIL 2009 

The minutes of the meeting of the Joint Planning Committee held on 21 April 2009 were 
signed by the Chair. 
  
 

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

1. Councillors Sandra Barnes, Chris Millar and Tony Woods declared a personal but non-
prejudicial interest in Item 7 – Emergent Joint Core Strategy, as members of the 
WNDC Board.   

 
2. Mr David Dickinson declared a personal but non-prejudicial interest in Item 7 – 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy, as a member of WNDC. 
 
3. Councillors Sandra Barnes, Stephen Clarke and Tony Woods declared a personal but 

non-prejudicial interest in Item 7 – Emergent Joint Core Strategy, as members of the 
East Midlands Regional Assembly. 

 
4. Councillor Andre Gonzales de Savage declared a personal but non-prejudicial interest 

in Item 7 – Emergent Joint Core Strategy, as Vice Chairman of Wootton and East 
Hunsbury Parish Council. 

 
5. Councillor Wendy Amos declared a personal but non-prejudicial interest in Item 7 – 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy, as a member of WNDC’s Planning Committee for 
Daventry. 

 
6. Councillor P D Varnsverry declared a personal but non-prejudicial interest in Item 7 – 

Emergent Joint Core Strategy, as being acquainted with one of the speakers. 
  
 



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Monday, 6 July 2009 

6. MATTERS OF URGENCY 

None. 
  
 

7. EMERGENT JOINT CORE STRATEGY 

The Chair reported that Sally Townsend had tabled a question in accordance with the Joint 
Planning Committee’s Supplementary Procedural Rules, which she then read out as follows: 
 

“Is the JPU confident that the delivery of jobs and infrastructure will happen in support 
of the dwelling numbers identified in the Joint Core Strategy?  History, experience 
and evidence show that jobs and infrastructure don’t follow the housing build or is 
slow in coming forward or in being delivered.  Existing residents need to be confident 
that the evidence for the needed infrastructure and finance is available for its delivery 
before more dwellings are built because jobs will not follow and more of the same will 
happen without commuting and increased traffic. 
 
Are the JPU confident that developers will not state that they can only deliver if the 
housing is built and then avoid the risk of the developer going into liquidation, as 
many have already done, leaving dwellings empty and sites not finished? 
 
If these risks are not evaluated and funding put in place to alleviate the shortfall, what 
will the JPU do to ensure the delivery of the Joint Core Strategy Vision?” 

 
The Chairman commented that the document before the Joint Planning Committee was the 
Emergent Joint Core Strategy.  Evidence had been and was continuing to be gathered in 
respect of what infrastructure was required.  This had been referred to consistently 
throughout the process so far.  Additionally, meetings with the highways authority and 
Department of Transport had taken place and would continue to do so.  The base line study 
of public service providers also included the utility providers, the Police, education, health 
and many of these groups were already sharing their plans to meet the demand that the 
proposed growth would bring.  The Strategy needed to show how infrastructure could be 
delivered and it would also identify gaps in funding.  Several parts of the Emergent Joint 
Core Strategy referred to highways and public transport needs and also referred to the risks 
involved in delivering the strategy.  The Joint Committee could not control the survival of 
individual developers but the planning period itself was over 25 years.  The current situation 
in Daventry with the appeals provided a clear example and a warning of what could happen 
if a policy framework were not in place.   
 
Mr David Haywood MBE, on behalf of CLASP, a registered charity interested in the 
archaeology of West Northamptonshire, commented that the Charity was primarily 
concerned with investigating the Romano/British history of West Northamptonshire and 
noted that other periods of history were also richly represented in the area.  He commented 
that the Strategy should include the digging, recording and preservation of this historic 
landscape and include what would happen to any finds.  Mr Haywood commented that 
CLASP would be happy to provide any assistance they could, as they already did for 
WNDC.  He noted that the document was silent on these matters.   
 
The Interim Head of the JPU commented that in respect of archaeology, the national 
guidelines were not considered part of a Core Strategy and it was not expected to repeat 
National Guidance.  She noted that green infrastructure was included within the Emergent 
Joint Core Strategy and that an environmental sensitivity assessment had already taken 
place.  She further commented that the assistance of CLASP would be welcomed.   
 
Mr Rod Sellers, on behalf of the Residents Alliance of East and West Hunsbury and 



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Monday, 6 July 2009 

Collingtree, commented that the residents had viewed the Emergent Joint Core Strategy 
with dismay and equally were unhappy that saying no to the proposals was not an option.  
The Residents Alliance were also dismayed that the Government were using outdated and 
flawed population figures, which had been taken up by the local planners.  The Residents 
Alliance were also dismayed that the proposal by a local developer appeared to have been 
incorporated into the Policy, ie a development for 2,200 houses on farmland and golf course 
adjacent to Collingtree.  He had previously written to the JPU and put forward reasoned 
arguments, including the fact that the development would not be sensitive to the existing 
community.  He commented that the JPU had not yet carried out assessments of flood risk, 
landslip, highways needs and noise from the M1.  He commented that the proposals 
provided nothing for existing residents.   
 
The Chair commented that he had received correspondence from Mr Murray Croft on behalf 
of the Residents Alliance and on the same subject dated 5 July 2009 and enclosing previous 
correspondence on the same subject dated 9 November 2008. 
 
Mr Allen Clarke, an English local historian and archaeologist, commented that it was part of 
Government policy that development should pay respect to and enhance local archaeology.  
He referred to the general plight of archaeology within Northamptonshire and compared this 
with RSS8, which stated the importance of archaeology.  He was disappointed that the 
Emergent Joint Core Strategy did not make greater reference to this subject and 
commented that he could provide documentary evidence to support his statement.  He 
noted that the Northampton Central Area Action Plan recognised PPG15, ie the protection of 
the built heritage but did not include PPG16, which concerned protecting archaeology below 
ground.  He regarded this as a weakness.  He commented that good strategy formed good 
policy and that the Strategy should comply with national advice and best practice.   
 
The Interim Head of the JPU repeated her previous comment that a Joint Core Strategy was 
not required to repeat National Guidance.  She also referred to the inclusion within the 
Emergent Strategy of green infrastructure and cultural heritage.  
 
Mr Clarke commented that the term “Emergent” tended to imply that the document was in an 
immature stage of development and felt that it should make reference to national policy at a 
local level. 
 
The Interim Head of the JPU submitted a report that sought the approval of the Joint 
Strategic Planning Committee to the publication and public consultation on the Emergent 
Joint Core Strategy as appended to the report.  She noted that the Joint Core Strategy 
(JCS) would be the long term strategic plan for the development of West Northamptonshire 
and that it was a spatial policy document that dealt with places and activities that would take 
place within them.  The production of a JCS was a legal requirement, which the partner 
authorities of Northampton Borough, Daventry District, South Northamptonshire and 
Northamptonshire County Councils had been required to produce by the Government.  The 
four councils were working in close co-operation with the West Northamptonshire 
Development Corporation (WNDC) who would be a key body in the delivery of development 
and infrastructure.  She noted that a pre-submission draft of the JCS was due for publication 
in November 2009 to meet the timetable, when a further period of consultation would take 
place. The JCS would then be submitted to the Secretary of State in March 2010 and an 
examination in public by the Planning Inspectorate around September 2010.  She confirmed 
the statement of the Chairman that it was not an option to say no to the principle of growth 
but local choices could be made as to how this growth would be implemented.  Further 
clarification of job provision, housing market needs and transportation assessments were all 
required. She commented that the stage had been reached for the current document to be 
made available for public debate and to move forward from the issues and options 
documents previously published in 2007.  The Emergent JCS set out the preferred 



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Monday, 6 July 2009 

directions for strategic growth, particularly around Northampton, Daventry, Towcester and 
Brackley; the pivotal importance of retail investment to town centre regeneration; the 
essential need to deliver infrastructure and the policy approach to sustaining rural 
communities and the character of the countryside.  The publication of the Emergent JCS 
would allow for a wide discussion and would help service providers to consider their plans 
for dealing with the growth.  The strategy was about existing communities as well as new 
ones.  It was not the final plan; it needed to reflect what local people wanted especially in 
terms of facilities that would benefit existing communities..  She noted that a sustainability 
appraisal of the Emergent JCS was ongoing and would be published alongside the JCS as 
part of the consultation in mid-July 2009.   
 
The Interim Head of the JPU commented that following advice from Queens Counsel that 
the Committee should consider an additional recommendation to the report as follows: 
 

“That the Interim Head of the JPU is delegated authority in consultation with the Chair 
of the Joint Planning Committee to make further editorial changes that: 

• clarify the policy approach and the response sought from consultees, for 
example that each section includes a “policy approach” as that in the sections 
covering 4.8.3 – Green Infrastructure and Cultural Heritage, 

• improve the readability and signposting of the document, and 

• correct any grammatical and typographical errors.” 

Queens Counsel advice had been that the final sentence of paragraph 1.12 on page 2 of the 
report be deleted and replaced by: 
 

“Consultation arrangements will provide further opportunities for the public to make 
representations at the pre-submission stage. 

 
The Interim Head of the JPU noted that once the Emergent Joint Core Strategy was 
published for consultation a number of public exhibitions, briefings for Councillors and 
Parish Councils and other events aimed at other stakeholders, such as developers and 
landowners, would be undertaken.  The consultation that had take place and the comments 
received were  required to be made available to the Joint Planning Committee.  She noted 
that the focus growth in the plan period up to 2031 was on Northampton, including 
regeneration in Northampton to relieve pressure on the other towns although they too were 
clearly to be allocated some growth.   
 
A discussion ensued in respect of the report, comment being made on the importance of 
infrastructure and the need for the growth to be infrastructure led.  It was noted that it was 
critical to have a JCS in place so as to avoid the current situation in Daventry, where 
development was being led by appeals from developers against refusal of planning 
permission because a policy framework did not currently exist.  It was also noted that the 
regeneration of Northampton town centre, Daventry and Towcester would be critical to the 
success of the Strategy and that it was also important that whilst villages also needed 
services rural areas could be protected from significant development beyond those areas 
that will be subject to urban extensions. These could be handled sympathetically. 
 
The Interim Head of the JPU then referred to the appendix to the report, which set out the 
Emergent Joint Core Strategy and circulated four “matters” to be considered as 
amendments to the document.  
 
Matter 1 was to insert into the Foreword on page iii some further paragraphs as follows: 
 



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Monday, 6 July 2009 

“The West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy will be the long term strategic plan for the 
development of the area so it will deal with the big picture of what will happen here. It will be 
a “spatial” plan which means it deals with places and the activities that happen within them. 
It will replace parts of the local plans for Daventry District, South Northamptonshire District 
and Northampton Borough. 
This document is the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy- “emergent strategy”. It 
sets out current thinking with respect to the policy approach  that should be taken in West 
Northamptonshire and is based on the evidence collected to date. It is not a draft plan or 
final strategy but is based on a significant body of work. 
Following a six week consultation period, further work with key stakeholders and further 
evidence gathering this thinking will become firmer, the document will change and it will 
become the Joint Core Strategy that will be put forward for submission to the Government 
Office for the East Midlands. At that point- in November 2009 a further consultation period 
will take place. 
At present some parts of the now well developed evidence base are clearer than others- the 
contents of this plan must not, therefore, be seen as a firm commitment to the policy 
approach contained within although much of the evidence base is strong in the context of 
the objectives of the plan. Where further work is needed we have endeavoured to note this 
in the text. The evidence base can be found on the following website: 
www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org 
 
We want to know whether the proposed policy approach is supported? If so, why? And if 
not, why not? 
Respond to:”         
 
and Matter 2 was to insert on page 5 paragraph 2.0.1 paragraphs headed Spatial Portrait 
Summary as follows- 
 
“Spatial Portrait Summary 
West Northamptonshire sits at the cross roads of the East and West Midlands regions well 
within the influence of the economy of London. The Capital’s influence on the area will 
persist throughout the plan period and beyond. West Northamptonshire is set to receive a 
significant amount of growth with around 62,000 new dwellings and over 37,000 new jobs 
between 2001 and 2026. It requires considerable investment in transport, utilities, health 
and other social infrastructure to support this growth and ensure vital towns and rural areas. 
The people of the area come from diverse social groupings and bring a wide range of skills 
and qualities to the areas’ economy and social life. 
West Northamptonshire has: 

• Excellent connections to the rest of the country and mainland Europe particularly by 
rail- contrasting with increased congestion. 

• Attractive rolling rural landscapes typified by mixed agricultural use, woodland and 
country houses together with many rivers, lakes, reservoirs and canals that also 
characterise its towns. 

• A strongly defined settlement pattern with Northampton as the primart town, market 
towns and villages. 

• High levels of car ownership and usage. 
• Abroad based economy with high economic activity rates. 
• High house prices in parts of the area but in comparison with national prices 

affordability is relatively good, particularly given its close proximity to the south east.  
• Areas of high incomes and wealth contrasting with areas of significant deprivation 

particularly in Northampton and Daventry. 
Wide ranging cultural and sporting facilities, including international assets such as 
Silverstone race circuit. 
 



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Monday, 6 July 2009 

Key Matters for the Strategy 
The need to accommodate growth is not a choice- the area is a national growth area and 
this growth must be managed to benefit existing and future residents, visitors and 
businesses. 
Elements of the existing infrastructure in West Northamptonshire are at or close to 
capacity. Compared to the growth sought, the infrastructure capacity would be inadequate 
in terms of transport and utilities- the strategy will address this need to support additional 
growth with the appropriate physical, social and green infrastructure and its delivery is 
reliant upon a host of public sector partners. Investment is needed to ensure that the towns 
do not become so congested that it affects economic performance or diminishes the quality 
of life to the extent that it becomes an unattractive place to live. 
Some parts of the towns have great potential for regeneration, renewal and revitalisation 
which the strategy will address. These include the western and eastern arcs of 
Northampton (for renewal), the town centre of Northampton (for regeneration) and the 
commercial centres of Towcester, Brackley and Daventry (for revitalisation). In addition the 
commercial centres of Northampton require improvement. 
Competition with other towns in the locality means that the commercial centres lose trade 
to other towns and retail parks eg Northampton loses significant trade to Milton Keynes 
and its retail parks, yet could provide a very different offer in terms of retail and leisure 
experience, whilst Daventry needs to maintain a position in relation to its near neighbours 
as they grow eg Northampton, Rugby, Banbury and Milton Keynes. This is to be addressed 
in the strategy. 
The connections between and within some of the towns need to be improved to make the 
area an effectively functioning network. This will be addressed. 
Some of the towns in West Northamptonshire would benefit from enhanced cultural and 
social facilities namely in Northampton and Towcester. This too is to be addressed in the 
strategy. 
The need to manage the impacts of climate change and reduce the environmental impact 
of the area is pressing. The strategy will address this matter” 
          
The Joint Committee agreed to the inclusion of these paragraphs.   
 
Matter 3 referred to the removal of paragraph 3.0.3 on page 8 and the insertion of: 
 

“The Local Area Agreement 
 
The Joint Core Strategy will support and help deliver the range of targets contained 
within the Local Area Agreement for Northamptonshire.  The current Local Area 
Agreement runs from 2008-2011.” 

 
The Joint Planning Committee agreed to this amendment. 
 
Matter 4 referred to the insertion of further paragraphs after 4.0.1 on page 12 and after 
paragraph 4.0.2, also on page 12.   
 
The Joint Planning Committee agreed to this addition. 
 
The Joint Planning Committee agreed to the amendment of the Vision on page 9 in respect 
of the fifth paragraph so as to remove the word “centre” and be replaced by “market town”.   
 
The Interim Head of the JPU referred to paragraph 4.0.6 on page 12 and commented that 
there were further concerns in respect of the identified sites of Northampton South and 
Northampton Junction 16, which should reflect the comments made on page  30 respect of 
flood risk assessments and highways assessments. 
 



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Monday, 6 July 2009 

A discussion ensued in respect of Northampton Junction 16, there being a discrepancy 
between the land area identified for employment potential and the SELA study of the area.  
Comment in respect of the sustainability of the site was discussed in terms of it having no 
sense of place.  The Interim Head of the JPU noted that this site had been put forward as 
employment land if sufficient sites could not be identified within the existing urban areasand 
that the SELA study is a piece of evidence that is still being completed.  
 
Reference was then made to the proposed development at Northampton North between 
Moulton and Overstone.  Councillor Church proposed and Councillor Millar seconded that 
the following statement be added in a suitable location of the Emergent JCS: 
 
“The core strategy will seek to strengthen the role of Northampton University, Moulton 
College, Northampton College and other centres of learning, enabling them to become hubs 
for generating economic activity and foster specialist business clusters. 
The university, colleges and other centres of learning will provide an opportunity to establish 
a stronger identity for their respective neighbourhoods and will enable higher density missed 
use developments in their locale. 
Learning opportunities in West Northamptonshire will be maximised by the ready physical 
access to the university and other higher, further and lifelong learning facilities. These 
facilities will be a key feature in varying the local skills base, attracting new employers and 
affording generations the chance to stay in West Northamptonshire rather than seeking 
employment outside the county”     
 

 
 
In answer to a question the Interim Head of the JPU noted that housing evidence was being 
reviewed and updated through the Housing Market Needs Assessment, which would 
probably lead to a revision of the affordable housing requirement for South 
Northamptonshire Council. She agreed that the table on page 16 would highlight that this 
was the case and that current evidence had to be used in this version of the strategy. 
 
At this juncture the Chair proposed that in accordance with the Joint Planning Committee’s 
Supplementary Procedural Rules the two hour guillotine on the length of meetings be 
waived so as to allow the discussions to continue.  This proposal was accepted. 
 
Councillor Chris Millar proposed and Councillor Ken Melling seconded that paragraph 4.3.16 
be reworded to read: 
 

“DIRFT is a current strategic location for storage and distribution and, as a significant 
site, is noted in the key diagram.  The East Midlands Plan requires further rail 
serviced sites to be provided for within the West Northamptonshire housing market 
area during the Plan period.  DIRFT is potentially a location for further storage and 
distribution growth due to its rail connection and market viability.  A Route Utilisation 
Strategy and Rail Freight Study are currently being drafted and developed.  On 
conclusion of this strategy and study a preferred choice can be made with respect to 
further strategic location for storage and distribution.” 

 
The proposal was agreed. 
 
The Interim Head of the JPU noted that Sections 4.3 and 4.5 needed to be clarified by an 
explanation that assessments were still being worked on. 
 
At this juncture the Chairman adjourned the meeting for 5 minutes at 20:10 hours until 
20:15 hours.   
 



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Monday, 6 July 2009 

In respect of Section 4.5.1.11, relating to Northampton South East, the Interim Head of the 
JPU asked the Joint Planning Committee to note the need to include a flood risk 
assessment as well as the evidence base to support the potential development of 18,000 
dwellings.  It was noted that the initial housing figure to 2026 was 6,250, but it was believed 
that the proposed infrastructure enhancements would allow for the development of up to 
18,000 dwellings over the longer planned period to 2031.  She noted that work in detail on 
transport modelling and other supportive infrastructure was taking place.  The JCS needed 
to say at this stage that the evidence suggested that this level of growth could be sustained. 
 
Comment was made on the need to consider East/West transportation flows particularly in 
Northampton North and also improvements to the A43, it being noted that the County 
Council had already looked at what was needed for the A43.  It was also noted that road 
improvements could be phased.  The Director for Planning and Regeneration noted that the 
JCS was a strategic document and once agreed it would influence the spending plans of 
different funding bodies.  Where infrastructure was needed this would form part of any 
planning permission and would be made an absolute requirement. 
 
In answer to a question the Head of the JPU noted that once all existing planning 
permissions and site assessments had been taken into account, the urban capacity figure 
for Northampton stood at about 5,500.  This capacity was being considered in the light of the 
Strategic Housing Land Availabilty Assessment.  It was noted that the figure quoted was 
lower than previous studies have indicated but that the difference might be partially be 
explained by a different treatment of allotment land and increasing evidence that former 
commercial buildings had not been developed for housing at the previously anticipated rate.  
David Dickinson noted that an assessment of employment land on brown field sites was 
outstanding and that NEL intended to carry out such a survey from September.   
 
The Interim Head of the JPU noted that the final bullet point under paragraph 4.5.4.2, in 
respect of Brackley North and the infrastructure required, should be deleted.  She noted that 
on page 45 the retail capacity figures should be included using the evidence from the Retail 
Capacity Study.  
 
In respect of paragraph  4.8.1.4 it was noted that Billing was mentioned twice and one of the 
references should be deleted and replaced by St Davids.   
 
A discussion ensued with regard to Sixfields and the fact that it was not included in the 
hierarchy of retail centres.  It was noted that Sixfields was not regarded as a district centre 
and therefore was not given specific mention within the JCS.  It was also noted that the Joint 
Planning Committee had already agreed to the regeneration of Northampton Town Centre 
as the primary commercial centre.  The recent Retail Capacity Study had made it clear that 
the town centre had been adversely affected by out of town retail parks.  The JCS did, 
however, acknowledge Kingsthorpe and Weston Favell as local centres. 
 
It was noted that South Northamptonshire Council had commissioned a Rural Interim 
Housing Policy in respect of the sustainability of villages, as two appeals had recently been 
lost because such policy was not already in place.  It was noted that evidence to support the 
hierarchy of villages to accommodate growth needed to be clear. 
 
In respect of developing infrastructure the Director of Planning and Regeneration noted that 
there were several ways in which funding might be secured, either through Government 
investment or private sector investment and that there were ways to develop front ending of 
the funding.  This would give Developers certainty about the future, which helped them to 
make the investment necessary.  If the money was provided up front then the Developer 
could get this money back over the life of the project.  Details of how this might work in the 
West Northamptonshire context needed to be further considered.  



 
West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Minutes - Monday, 6 July 2009 

 
The Interim Head of the JPU noted that the West Northamptonshire Sports Strategy 
provided good information on sports and leisure needs, as well as children’s play.  These 
would be important aspects of the JCS.  It was also noted that even in sensitive 
environments development was not necessarily ruled out.  It was a question of whether the 
development could be carried out in a sufficiently sympathetic or sensitive way. 
 
The Interim Head of the JPU confirmed that paper copies of the Emergent JCS would be 
sent to all Parish Councils who would also have the opportunity of consultation meetings 
with the JPU.  Residents Associations would be circulated with the documents in non-
parished areas and copies would be placed in libraries and schools (where possible). 
 
RESOLVED: (1) That the report, as amended at the suggestion of Queens Counsel, be 

received. 
 
 (2) That the publication of the Emergent Joint Core Strategy as set out in 

Appendix A and as amended by the Joint Planning Committee be 
published for the purpose of public consultation to commence as soon 
as practicable for a 6 week period. 

 
 (3) That the Interim Head of the JPU is delegated authority in consultation 

with the Chair to make further editorial changes that: 

• clarify the policy approach and the response sought from 
consultees, for example that each section includes a “policy 
approach” as that in sections covering 4.8.3 – Green 
Infrastructure and Cultural Heritage, 

• improve the readability and signposting of the document, and 

• correct any grammatical and typographical errors. 
  
 

8. FINANCE AND PROCUREMENT PROTOCOL 

The Head of Corporate Services for South Northamptonshire Council submitted a report that 
sought approval to a Financial and Procurement Protocol so as to clarify the arrangements 
in relation to the operation of the Joint Planning Unit.  He noted that the proposal would put 
the Protocol and Memorandum of Intent and the proposed service contracting arrangements 
on a formal contractual footing.  He commented that the respective Section 151 officers and 
Monitoring Officers of all four councils had been consulted.  The Head of Corporate Services 
noted that paragraph 16 of the Protocol should be amended by the replacement of “31 May “ 
by “31 October”. At the suggestion of Councillor Stephen Clarke it was agreed that 
paragraph 56 of the Protocol should be expanded to make clear that where an audit report 
contained an assurance level or recommendations that would normally result in reference to 
an Audit Committee locally, such reference should apply for any JPU related reports.   
RESOLVED: (1) That the Finance and Procurement Protocol as amended and appended 

to the report be agreed. 
 
 (2) That the officers of the partner authorities seek approval as quickly as 

practicable to the completion of a legal agreement incorporating the 
Protocol, the Memorandum of Intent and agency arrangements to 
enable South Northamptonshire Council to contract for the relevant 
services on behalf of all partner authorities. 

  
 

The meeting concluded at 21.11 hours 
 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/01/09/09 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 

 
AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC 
 
 
Cabinet Meeting Date: 
 
Key Decision: 
 
Listed on Forward Plan: 
 
Within Policy: 
 
Policy Document: 
 
 
Directorate: 
 
 
Accountable Cabinet Member:  
 
Ward(s) 

  
23rd September 2009 
 
NO 
 
YES 
 
YES 
 
NO 
 
 
Finance and Support 
 
 
Councillor Tony Woods 
 
N/A 

 
 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1  To receive customer feedback trend analysis for the financial year 2008/9. 
 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1  That Cabinet note the contents of the report and the work in progress to 

improve complaints handling. 
 
 
3. Issues and Choices 
 
3.1 Report Background 
 
3.1.1 At Cabinet on 4th August 2008, it was agreed to receive regular reports on 

customer feedback.  This report provides high-level statistical information on 

Report Title 
 

Customer Feedback Annual Report 2008/9 

Item No. 

7 
Appendices 

1 

Agenda Item 7



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/01/09/09 

customer feedback received in the financial year 2008/9.  It highlights key 
issues and provides an overview of the action taken to support continuous 
improvement and learning from complaints 

 
3.2 Issues 
 
3.2.1 Customer feedback is welcomed by the Council.  This report provides an 

overview of performance to date.   There has been significant improvement in 
performance compared with financial year 2007/8.  There has been a 22% 
reduction in numbers of complaints and response times are improving. 

 
3.2.2 Response times are below target, action is being taken to improve the 

percentage answered within the target time through the Corporate 
Performance Review process and Directorate Management Teams.  The final 
quarters of the financial year show that improvement is being made. 

 
3.2.3 Training has been delivered to enable front line staff to resolve issues for 

customers prior to a complaint being raised.   Reductions in reported 
complaints in quarters three and four shows that this training is having an 
impact. 

 
3.2.4 Customers are more satisfied when they have prompt verbal contact from 

officers to clarify and address their complaint early.  Changes are planned to 
improve the Customer Feedback Procedure to encourage staff ownership of 
customer issues at the informal stages of the complaints process. 

 
3.2.5 There needs to be improved communication on how to complain and the 

action taken by the Council to change services as a result of that feedback.   
 
3.3 Choices (Options) 
 
3.3.1 That the contents of this report inform planned improvements to complaints 

handling. 
 
3.3.2 That copies of this report are made available to other members, our customers 

and officers in the Council. 
 
 
4. Implications (including financial implications) 
 
4.1 Policy 

 
  There are no policy implications at this stage. 
 
4.2 Resources and Risk 
 
  There are currently no resource or risk implications to the Council. 

 
4.3 Legal 

 
  There are no legal implications to the Council. 
 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/01/09/09 

4.4 Equality 
 

  This report does not identify any specific issues in relation to equalities. 
 
4.5 Consultees (Internal and External) 

 
  A customer survey has been conducted and used to understand how 
customers feel about the way in which complaints are handled now and how 
they should be handled in the future. 

 
4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes 

 
  The report supports the Council’s priorities and outcomes in particular to 

provide excellent customer service.  There was a specific target to reduce 
complaints by 20% in 2008/9, which was met.  The effective handling of 
complaints links closely to the delivery of the Council’s Customer Excellence 
Strategy. 

 
4.7 Other Implications 

 
  None identified. 
 
 
 

 
5. Background Papers 
 
5.1 Quarterly Customer Feedback Analysis Reports – April 2008 to March 2009 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cheryl Doran, Assistant Head of Customer Services, ext 7234. 

 
 
 



  
 

Customer Feedback Annual Report 2008-9  - 1 - 

 
 

Customer Feedback Annual Report 2008 – 2009 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide members with statistical information in 
relation to Customer Feedback received for the financial year 08/09.   
 
The report provides statistical data and comparisons to the previous financial 
year.  It highlights improvements made and actions planned to ensure 
continuous improvement. 
 
2. INTRODUCTION 
 
Feedback from our customers offers the Council a chance to gain a picture of 
the level of service provided within each service area.  The Council is 
committed to providing excellent customer service and uses feedback 
whether negative or positive to review performance and take steps to address 
issues for customers as part of our commitment to continuous improvement 
across the organisation.  
  
All feedback received is reported on including Stage 1 which is an informal 
process.   
 
3. DEFINITION OF A COMPLAINT: 
 
A complaint is any expression of dissatisfaction about our services, staff or 
policies.   The procedure at present is: 
  
Stage 1  - Local Resolution / Informal – 10 working days maximum 
Stage 2 – Formal Investigation – 20 working days maximum 
Stage 3 – Review – 20 working days maximum 
 
The next stage would be to contact the Local Government Ombudsman, who 
can independently investigate the way the complaint has been handled at 
each stage. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 

Customer Feedback Annual Report 2008-9  - 2 - 

4. SUMMARY OF TOTAL FEEDBACK RECEIVED: 
 
FIGURE 1:  Table of Total Feedback Received 2008/9: 

  
Stage 1 
Complaint  

Stage 2 
Complaint  

Stage 3 
Complaint  LGO 

MP 
Enquiry 

Councillor 
Enquiry Comments Compliments Total 

1st 
Quarter 438 26 6 7 119 131 189 125 1045
2nd 
Quarter 499 30 12 7 85 129 133 127 1029
3rd 
Quarter 322 8 4 6 86 83 97 74 684
4th 
Quarter 264 10 2 5 94 92 134 166 781
Total 1523 74 24 25 384 435 553 492 3539
 
Figure 1 provides an overview of the total feedback received into the Council 
during 2008/9. 
 
Figure 2: Yearly Comparison of Stage 1,2 and 3 2007/8 and 2008/9: 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Stage 1
Complaint 

Stage 2
Complaint

Stage 3
Complaint

Stage 1
Complaint 

Stage 2
Complaint 

Stage 3
Complaint

2008 / 2009 2007 / 2008

1st Quarter

2nd Quarter

3rd Quarter

4th Quarter

 
Figure 2 above shows a comparison of all complaints from July 2007 when 
the Customer Relationship Management system was introduced.   
 
We have seen a reduction within all three stages of complaints; informal 
complaints have reduced by 22% and Stage 2 complaints have reduced by 
48%. 
 
Reasons for the reduction include:   
 

• Requests for service being correctly identified.   
• Immediate resolution taking place upon contact by the customer.   
• A training programme to promote the ownership of cases and improve 

communication and teamwork.   



  
 

Customer Feedback Annual Report 2008-9  - 3 - 

• Learning from complaints and implementing improvements to avoid re-
occurance. 

 
 
5. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE 
 
 
FIGURE 3:  Corporate performance 2008/9: 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Stage 1 Complaint - % Responded to within 10 working days (Target 100%)

Stage 2 Complaint - % Responded to within 20 working days (Target 100%)

Stage 3 Complaint - % Responded to within 20 working days (Target 100%)

 
The following corporate performance targets are in operation: 
 

• 100% of Stage 1 complaints responded to within 10 working days 
• 100% of Stage 2 complaints responded to within 20 working days 
• 100% of Stage 3 complaints responded to within 20 working days 

 
The percentage of cases responded to in target have consistently improved 
over the last six months.   
 
There has been a marked improvement in responses within target.  For stage 
1 and 2 complaints an increase from 80% in 07/08 to 91.3% in 08/09. 
 
In the last quarter of 08/09 100% of Stage 3 complaints were responded to 
within target.  (a 100% increase from 07/08) 
 
 
 
6. LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN COMPLAINTS  
 
The LGO received 76 complaints and enquires during 2008/9.   
 
31 regarding Housing 
19 regarding Council Tax 



  
 

Customer Feedback Annual Report 2008-9  - 4 - 

11 regarding Benefits  
5 regarding Planning 
 
 
During 07/08 69 complaints were investigated by the LGO.  This reduced to 
25 in 08/09 which is a significant 64% decrease and illustrates that the 
improvements to our services have been effective. 
 
Our response times to the LGO have also significantly improved from 48.2 
days in 07/08 to 34.4 days in 08/09. 
 
We have recently introduced further measures to continue to improve our 
response times.   
 
Customers are contacting the LGO for advice prior to asking for a review 
(stage 3) in which case the LGO are referring the customers back to us so we 
have identified this as an area for improvement – publicising the availability of 
the review process more widely. 

 
7. CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT & LEARNING 

 
The Council has ambitions to become one of the best councils in terms of 
public service delivery and to assist in achieving this ambition has used data 
from customers to gain an increased understanding of where we have 
satisfied our customers and where improvements are required. 
 
Measuring how customers feel about the way their complaints is handled is 
key to ensuring that our Customer Feedback Procedure meets customer 
requirements.  A survey was sent out in March 2009 to all customers who had 
made a complaint to us in the six months from 1st June 2008 to 31st 
December 2008.  The feedback from that survey has been used to develop an 
improved customer feedback procedure.   
 
43% of customers were satisfied with how their complaint was handled.  (The 
national average is 50%).   
 
In some service areas satisfaction with complaint handling was as high as 
62%.  Shared learning is taking place to ensure that best practise in those 
areas (such as contacting customers very quickly in the early stages) is 
adopted by all service areas. 
 



  
 

Customer Feedback Annual Report 2008-9  - 5 - 

FIGURE 4 How easy did you find it to make your complaint? 

Difficult
21%

Very Difficult
8%

Blank
1% Very Easy

17%

Easy
53%

 
 

 
70% of our customers found the process to complain either very easy or easy.  
In some areas the percentage was lower and again we are looking at 
disseminating best practise across areas. 
 
55% of customers felt that they received a timely response to their complaints 
and measures have been put in place to ensure that our customers are being 
kept informed throughout the process and as confirmed previously there has 
already been a marked improvement in the turnaround timescales within the 
last six months. 
 
The feedback received from our customers from the survey included some of 
the following comments: 
 
•     More communication with customers and other departments. 
•     Taking more responsibility 
•     Staff Training 
•     Improved Customer Service 
•     “I was kept informed regularly and the matter was dealt with”. 
•     “Happy with the service, no need for improvements”. 
 
 
8. ACTION UNDERTAKEN TO IMPROVE 
 
Complaints provide the council with valuable feedback in respect of the way 
that services are delivered.  Work is in progress to develop and implement a 
corporate cultural change programme to further improve our ability to manage 
and learn from customer feedback. 
 



  
 

Customer Feedback Annual Report 2008-9  - 6 - 

A summary of improvements from the learning from complaints is below: 
 
•••• Training - Continuous customer service training is in place to improve the 

level of Customer Service delivered to our customers at all points of 
contact.  The training is delivered at all levels of the organisation and has 
been developed with particular regard to the strengths and weaknesses of 
the organisation. 
 

• Ownership – Increased ownership at the first point of contact, using 
service experts to contact customers and find a solution before the 
complaint reaches the formal stages of the procedure.   Customer 
satisfaction is higher in areas where proactive ‘verbal’ contact is 
encouraged.   Increased ownership within service areas – Directorate 
Management Teams are acting on complaints data on a monthly basis. 
 

• Offering the right to escalate - Improved use of standard letters to 
ensure that customers are offered the opportunity to escalate their 
complaint (thereby preventing premature contact to the Local Government 
Ombudsman).  However, proactive verbal contact is still encouraged in the 
informal stages.   Letters should be a confirmation of what was discussed 
and agreed where appropriate. 

 
• Learning identified –learning is identified monthly through Directorate 

Management Teams ensuring that ongoing measures to improve are put 
in place and can be fed back to customers. 

 
 
9. CONCLUSION 

 
There has been significant improvement in the Council’s handling of 
complaints in the financial year 2008/9.  Customers are more satisfied with 
how we handle their complaint although it is recognised that more needs to be 
done.  In particular customer feedback shows that satisfaction is higher where 
informal complaints are dealt with swiftly and when open communication is 
started to resolve the complaint or issue straight away. 
 
Performance has also improved on response times, and the volume of 
complaints going to the Ombudsman has reduced.  Ongoing plans to improve 
complaints handling will ensure that current weaknesses are addressed and 
that customers are kept informed of the progress of any complaint they make 
throughout the process.  By monitoring the learning from complaints, the 
Council can identify where it has responded to the views of its customers in 
developing and improving its services.   Reporting to service areas is under 
development to ensure that learning from complaints can be captured to show 
how we have made improvements to prevent the same complaints from 
recurring. 
 



  
 

Customer Feedback Annual Report 2008-9  - 7 - 

10. FUTURE ACTIONS TO IMPROVE SERVICE 
 
Whilst it can be acknowledged that improvements have been made to the way 
that the Council handles complaints and uses customer feedback to improve 
its services, there is still work to be done to ensure the Council is in a position 
to realise its ambition to be one of the best councils in terms of public service 
delivery by 2012.  The following shows the actions that are planned as part of 
the delivery of our Customer Excellence Strategy. 
 

• Changes to the Customer Feedback Procedure to reduce the number 
of stages to ensure a swifter and more proactive response at all 
stages. 

• Agreed definition of a complaint across the whole organisation 
• Further publicity of the agreed complaints procedure. 
• Ability to resolve complaints by mediating and negotiating with 

customers where appropriate. 
• Better communication to customers of how to make a complaint, how 

to contact the Council generally and what service standards to expect. 
• Reporting of learning points from customer feedback. 
• Complaint statistics published on a regular basis.  
• Publishing the annual report on the website along with what has been 

done to improve  
• Continuation of the training programme to ensure that staff are 

equipped to deal effectively with customer service issues and 
complaints at all levels in the organisation. 

 
 



 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 
 
 
 

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC 
 
 
Cabinet Meeting Date: 
 
Key Decision: 
 
Listed on Forward Plan: 
 
Within Policy: 
 
Policy Document: 
 
Directorate: 
 
Accountable Cabinet Member:  
 
Ward(s) 

  
9th September 2009  
 
NO 
 
YES 
 
YES 
 
NO 
 
Chief Executive and Planning and 
Regeneration 
Councillor Brian Hoare 
 
All  
 
 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1  This report is to enable Cabinet to discuss and determine the Council’s formal 

response to the Government’s consultation paper with specific reference to WNDC. 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 Cabinet are recommended to agree the proposed formal response to the 

consultation attached at Appendix 1, delegating any final minor textual amendments 
to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Deputy Leader. 

 
2.2 Cabinet are recommended to authorise the Chief Executive and the Deputy Leader 

to work with Northamptonshire County Council, South Northants Council, Daventry 
District Council and West Northamptonshire Development Corporation on points of 
common agreement and to lend the Council’s voice to any common approach to 
Government that may help achieve change in line with the Council’s response to 
the consultation. 

 
3. Issues and Choices 
 
3.1 Report Background 
 

Report Title 
 

West Northamptonshire Development Corporation 
(WNDC) Quinquennial Review – Response to CLG 
consultation in respect of Urban Development 
Corporations (UDC’s) 

Item No. 

8 
Appendices 
 
 

Agenda Item 8



 2 

3.1.1. Communities and Local Government (CLG) is the sponsoring department for the 
three statutory Urban Development Corporations (UDC’s). These UDC’s cover the 
areas of London Thames Gateway, Thurrock and West Northamptonshire.  At the 
time of their establishment in 2004-2005, the Government committed to undertaking 
a review of the UDC’s after five years of their existence.  This consultation forms 
part of the review and will be taken into consideration by Ministers in reaching their 
conclusions. 

 
3.1.2 The review is considering in each case: 
 

• Whether the UDC’s have fulfilled the rationale for establishing them, and  
     how well they have performed, including progress against the targets they were 

set, since they were established; 

• Whether changes locally or regionally affect the continuing need for a UDC, or 
the extent of its powers; 

• The impact of the changing national context, particularly the establishment of the 
Homes and Communities Agency; 

• Efficiency, in the light of the Government’s Operational Efficiency Programme 1, 
which is looking at achieving greater efficiencies in a number of cross-cutting 
areas, including back office operations and IT, and collaborative procurement; 

• Whether there are obstacles that if removed, or greater freedoms that if given, 
would enable the UDC’s to operate more effectively. 

 
1 Operational Efficiency Programme:  Final Report (HM Treasury, 21st April 2009) can be found at 
http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/d/oep_final_report_210409_pu728.pdf 
 

3.1.3 The consultation paper sets out the rationale for the establishment of the UDC’s, 
describes the changing national context, options for the future and explores specific 
issues for each of the Corporations at this time.  The full document can be viewed 
at www.communities.gov.uk and a copy has been placed in the Members Room. 

 
3.1.4 In addition to the responses to this consultation exercise, Ministers will also be 

taking into consideration the successes of the UDC’s in establishing a clear 
regeneration framework and vision for their work, success in implementing key 
projects, performance in handling planning applications and overall cost 
effectiveness and value for money. 

 
3.1.5 Cabinet will be aware that on the 8th July 2009, they considered the 

recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny 1 in respect of WNDC and that Report 
and Minute is attached at Appendix 2. Cabinet broadly accepted the 
recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny. 

 
3.2 Issues 
 
3.2.1 The key issues established for consideration in the consultation document have 

been set out in para. 3.1.2 above. 
 
3.2.2 Cabinet agreed, when responding to Overview and Scrutiny in July 2009, that the 

Council should input in a constructive way to the review and in a comprehensive 
response deal with a number of key issues including:- 



 3 

 
 (a) a redefined and refocused role for WNDC as the Local Delivery Vehicle  

(LDV) and its relationship with the Borough and District Councils, given 
its function to secure the regeneration of the area; 
 

(b) the role of WNDC as a Development Control Authority for the purposes  
of Part III of the Act and whether such a role is appropriate; 
 

(c) a narrower focus on the role of WNDC to delivering investment and  
regeneration; 
 

(d) changing the boundaries of its operational area and its functions within  
those boundaries; 
 

(e) introducing democratic accountability e.g. revising its Standing Orders  
so that NBC Councillors, as Board Members, are able to sit on WNDC’s  
Northampton Planning Committee; 
 

(f) a managed and speedy transfer of WNDC’s planning powers back to  
Northampton Borough; 
 

(g) a clear focus on Infrastructure funding and delivery; 
 
(h) mechanisms and processes for joint delivery of major projects, between  

the partner local authorities, including the sustainable urban extensions  
required to deliver growth. 

 
3.2.3 These issues are included in the proposed draft response with some refinement 

and rewording. The response has also been informed by joint discussions between 
the four local Councils and WNDC over the last few months.  The proposed draft 
response also responds to the key questions outlined in the consultation document, 
but focuses primarily on the key issues raised by Cabinet and Scrutiny to date. 

 
3.2.4 Discussions with other Councils affected and with WNDC indicate that there is 

agreement between each of these agencies on many points about the future of 
WNDC, though not all. It is much more likely that Government will listen to the need 
for reform of WNDC if partners work together on key points of agreement. Whilst it 
is not yet possible to state the exact position of each partner, because they are still 
to determine their final responses, it is proposed that this Council should be willing 
to work closely with these partners on making the case for change to Government. 
This could include agreeing to a joint response in addition to the Council’s own 
response, as long as any joint response is in line with this Council’s agreed position 
of July 2009. 

 
3.3 Choices (Options) 
 
3.3.1 In respect of this matter Cabinet’s choices are limited by the earlier decision of 

Cabinet in July 2009.  They are: 
 
 (a) Despite the decision taken in July 2009 to decide not to respond to the  

consultation paper. No justified reasoning can be identified for such an  
approach which, if adopted, would undermine the Council’s reputation  



 4 

and commitment to the Growth Agenda. It could also miss an opportunity to 
improve and re-focus the role of WNDC and our partnership with them for the 
future good of Northampton. 
 

(b) To respond constructively to the review of WNDC as proposed in the  
draft response and signalled by Cabinet at their meeting in July this  
year. Within this option, Cabinet may desire to respond differently on  
the key points raised in the draft response attached. 
 

4. Implications (including financial implications) 
 
4.1 Policy 
 
4.1.1 There are no direct policy implications arising from this report. 
  
4.2 Resources and Risk 
 
4.2.1 There would be financial implications should the Cabinet ask for and receive the 

transfer of Development Control powers back to NBC as soon as possible.  This 
transfer would require the transfer of staff from WNDC with attendant costs, and an 
increase in expertise and capacity within the Planning department. Precise 
requirements will be identified in the budget setting process. Whilst income streams 
should also come to the Council from WNDC there is an expected deficit on any 
such transfer. Should the proposal be accepted detailed discussion on transition will 
be needed with Government and WNDC. 
 
The proposed closer involvement in strategic planning applications may produce 
further resource needs. All resourcing decisions will need to be considered 
alongside the Council’s overall financial and service priorities corporately. 
 

4.2.2 Any change to organisational arrangements will carry with it both opportunities and 
risks. It is critical that the outcome of the review process is a WNDC which is a 
more effective and focussed organisation.  Failure to deliver this and to support the 
result wholeheartedly would damage the delivery of a better Northampton (one of 
the Council’s key goals) through compromising local delivery. 

 
4.3 Legal 
 
4.3.1 There are no immediate legal implications, however the transfer of Development 

Control powers and other democratic changes may require further statutory 
instruments (SI’s) to replace or cancel those passed in 2004 and 2006. The 2004 SI 
established WNDC. The 2006 SI established the planning powers of WNDC. 

 
4.4 Equality 
 
4.4.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report. 
 
4.5 Consultees (Internal and External) 
 
4.5.1 Consultation has taken place between the Chief Executive and the Director of 

Planning and Regeneration and the Head of Planning on this matter. Members 
have been engaged through the Scrutiny process and at Cabinet. As referred to 



 5 

above, officers have also discussed this matter with the other three Councils and 
WNDC. 

 
4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes 
 
4.6.1 Refocusing the role of WNDC and strengthening partnership working would deliver 

on a range of priority outcomes not least the regeneration of the Town Centre and 
delivery of the Growth Agenda.  

 
4.7 Other Implications 
 

None identified 
 

5.  Background Papers 
 
5.1  Report to Cabinet from Overview and Scrutiny 1 dated 25th February 2009. 
  Report to Cabinet dated 8th July 2009. 
  CLG Consultation Paper re UDC’s (June 2009). ATTACHED Appendix 2 
 
 

 
David Kennedy 
Chief Executive 
Ext. 7726 
 
David K. Bailey      Sue Bridge 
Director of Planning and Regeneration   Head of Planning 
Ext. 7287       Ext. 8083 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 6 

 
Appendix 1. 

 
Urban Development Corporation Quinquennial Review – 

 
Communities and Local Government Consultation 

 
 

Formal Response from Northampton Borough Council 
 

with particular reference to the 
 

West Northamptonshire Development Corporation (WNDC) 
 

Northampton Borough Council’s (NBC) response to the review of WNDC has been 
helpfully informed by a recent review of WNDC by its Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
This Scrutiny Review was carefully considered by Cabinet on the 8th July 2009 and that 
Report and Minute is attached as part of our formal response. 
 
In setting the context for this response we feel that it is important that CLG understand that 
the context of local government and Northampton Borough Council in particular is very 
different now to the period which saw the creation of WNDC (2004) and the handing of 
planning powers to WNDC (2006). 
 
The Joint Strategic Planning Committee has been established with the full and thorough 
involvement of all partners. A revised LDS is being delivered, with the emergent Joint Core 
Strategy currently out to consultation.  
 
Northampton Borough Council has strengthened its capacity to deliver on planning and 
regeneration and this has been recognised by the ending of Government engagement in 
planning at the start of 2009. The Council now has much enhanced capacity and ability to 
lead on planning matters for the Borough and is recognised as a key and committed 
partner. 
 
At County level, the creation of the Public Service Board supported by all partners has 
created an environment in which local government and partners work much more closely 
on the key issues for the County. Within this, a strong focus on Northampton and its future 
growth is recognised as a necessity and there is a common commitment to an effective 
delivery vehicle to make this happen. 
 
The current arrangements for WNDC no longer fit the context of Northampton or West 
Northants and need fundamental change to make WNDC a much more focussed and 
efficient agency. 
 
WNDC should be concentrating very tightly on the delivery of the major developments and 
investments, including major infrastructure in particular,  that will enable the delivery of a 
better Northampton and West Northamptonshire through growth in the future. 
 
WNDC should not be spending its time and energies on matters which are outside this 
scope, which are properly the responsibility of local authorities or which would be better 
delivered by more appropriately equipped agencies. 
 



 7 

The Council has a positive vision of WNDC as a tightly focussed agency which has local 
backing to deliver married with support from the HCA and CLG and the RDA (EMDA). We 
believe that the journey towards that agency must be started now and deliver within 18 
months from now. If all that comes of this review is marginal change within the context of a 
statutory (UDC) approach, then progress on the things that WNDC are geared up to 
deliver will continue to be slower than can be achieved. 
 
In moving to a non-statutory agency, with local legitimacy and national backing, the local 
partners will be building on much improved local working relationships between Councils 
and between WNDC and Councils. If commitment is not shown by making WNDC 
considerably more effective within a short period, it will over time become harder to make 
progress and retain commitment from partners. Northampton needs arrangements which 
are locally focussed and legitimate, which engage partners across West Northants and 
deliver for the whole area, and which will enable innovation and growth.  
 
The Council desires this important consultation to improve the ability of all partners to 
deliver the future Northampton (inside and outside this Council’s boundaries). It is our 
assertion that this can be achieved by addressing the achievement of the following goals:  
 
 (a) a redefined and refocused role for WNDC as the Local Delivery Vehicle  

(LDV) and of its relationship with the Borough, District and County Councils, 
given its function to secure the regeneration of the area; 
 

(b) the ending of WNDC’s role as a Development Control Authority for the  
purposes of Part III of the Act; 
 

(c) creating a narrower focus for WNDC on delivering investment and  
Regeneration working closely with all partners; 
 

(d) changing the boundaries of WNDC’s operational area and its functions  
within those boundaries so that for its revised purpose (rather than for  
planning purposes) WNDC is responsible across West Northamptonshire; 
 

(e) introducing democratic accountability to WNDC, for example by allowing 
Northampton Borough Council Councillors, as Board Members, are able to 
sit on WNDC’s Northampton Planning Committee, and ensuring that 
nominations of councillors to the Board of WNDC are appointed by their own 
Council; 
 

(f) implementing a managed and speedy transfer of WNDC’s planning powers 
back to Northampton Borough and the other planning authorities through the 
cancellation of the relevant Statutory Instrument; 
 

(g) ensuring that WNDC maintains a clear focus on Infrastructure funding and 
delivery; 

 
(h) enabling the development at local level, backed by CLG, HCA and EMDA, of 

mechanisms and processes for joint delivery of major projects, between the 
partner local authorities, including the sustainable urban extensions required 
to deliver growth. 
 

These key issues are addressed separately below:- 
 



 8 

(a) A redefined and refocused role for WNDC as the Local Delivery Vehicle 
(LDV) and of its relationship with the Borough, District and County 
Councils, given its function to secure the regeneration of the area. 

 
• The future role of WNDC should be redefined and refocused to deliver      

investment and regeneration, with a strong focus on delivering the new   
Northampton for the wider benefit of Northamptonshire. 

• This core purpose of WNDC should not be confused by amalgamating WNDC 
into any wider organisation covering wider objectives or geographic area, an 
approach which in our judgement would be more inefficient and would slow 
rather than accelerate delivery through the need to reconcile different areas of 
focus. 

• Investment priorities and delivery plans should be clearly aligned to the Joint 
Core Strategy and Development Plan Documents within the emerging Local 
Development Framework for West Northamptonshire. 

• Investment priorities and delivery plans should secure a balance between short 
term immediate delivery and medium/long term investment to secure future 
infrastructure to sustain delivery of new jobs, new homes and new facilities. 

• This review should kick start the transformation as soon as possible of WNDC 
from its current statutory basis to a non-statutory partnership driven by shared 
objectives and backed by HCA and CLG and regional agencies or their 
successor bodies.  

• We believe that such a transformation should be possible within 18 months. If 
Northampton is not to be left behind by the pace of change and regeneration, 
then it is absolutely critical to make these changes with as much speed as 
possible. 

 
(b) The ending of WNDC’s role as a Development Control Authority for the 

purposes of Part III of the Act. 
 

• To maximise focus on investment and delivery WNDC should, as soon as 
possible, be relieved of its role as a Development Control authority.   

• Development Control powers should be returned to Local Planning Authorities, 
through a managed process with a clear transitional plan agreed by all partners 
and supported by CLG. 

 
(c) Creating a narrower focus for WNDC on delivering investment and 

regeneration working closely with partners. 
 
• The future role of WNDC should be redefined and refocused to deliver      

investment and regeneration, with a strong focus on delivering the new     
Northampton for the wider benefit of Northamptonshire. 

• Investment priorities should be clearly aligned to the Joint Core Strategy and 
Development Plan Documents within the Local Development Framework. 



 9 

• Investment priorities should secure a balance between short term immediate 
delivery and medium/long term investment to secure future infrastructure to 
sustain delivery of new jobs, new homes and new facilities. 

• This review should kick start the transformation of WNDC from its current      
statutory basis to a non-statutory partnership driven by shared objectives       
and backed by HCA and CLG and regional agencies or their successor       
bodies. 

• If Northampton is not to be left behind by the pace of change and      
regeneration, then the necessary changes need to be in place within 18 months. 

 
(d) Changing the boundaries of WNDC’s operational area and its functions 

within those boundaries so that for its revised purpose (rather than for 
planning purposes) WNDC is responsible across West Northamptonshire. 

 
• With the exception of planning powers, which should be returned to the local 

planning authorities, the boundary for WNDC should be extended to cover the 
whole of West Northamptonshire. 

 
(e) Introducing democratic accountability to WNDC, for example by allowing 

Northampton Borough Council Councillors, as Board Members, are able to 
sit on WNDC’s Northampton Planning Committee, and ensuring that 
nominations of councillors to the Board of WNDC are appointed by their 
own Council. 

 
• WNDC has suffered from a lack of local legitimacy. This has been in part due to 

the disconnection between local democratic bodies and WNDC. It is therefore 
proposed that nominations should be made direct to WNDC by the local 
authorities, whilst also accepting the value of independent voices on the WNDC 
Board. The proscription of local members from sitting on the Planning 
Committee for their own area should be immediately lifted ahead of such powers 
being transferred back to the local planning authorities. 

 
(f) Implementing a managed and speedy transfer of WNDC’s planning powers 

back to Northampton Borough and the other planning authorities through 
the cancellation of the relevant Statutory Instrument. 

 
• It is a major distraction to WNDC to be dealing with minor planning matters, 

particularly within Northampton Town Centre. Planning powers should be 
returned on a phased basis, starting with the Town Centre, then moving to other 
minor and small major applications, then strategic (large major) applications 
over an 18-month period in total. 

 
(g) Ensuring that WNDC maintains a clear focus on Infrastructure funding and 

delivery. 
 
• Through this process of change, WNDC can focus on it prime task – that of 

delivery, supported by the local authorities, CLG, HCA and EMDA. It is 
particularly important to Northampton that WNDC has a prime focus on 
delivering the new Northampton, but we recognise for practical reasons that the 
whole of West Northants needs to be included. It is therefore important that 



 10 

WNDC delivers not just for Northampton but also for Towcester, Daventry, 
Brackley and other settlements and areas. 

 
• The delivery of infrastructure is a pre-requisite of being able to deliver growth in 

West Northants and Northampton. We need a focussed, slim and effective local 
delivery vehicle which is overloaded with roles that should be performed by the 
local authorities working within the overall partnership. 

 
(h) Enabling the development at local level, backed by CLG, HCA and EMDA, 

of mechanisms and processes for joint delivery of major projects, between 
the partner local authorities, including the sustainable urban extensions 
required to deliver growth. 

 
• It is by delivering a better focussed WNDC with local legitimacy and 

accountability that stronger progress can be delivered on the ground. This can 
also be enhanced by more effective partnership working.  

 
• The creation of the Public Service Board, under which sits a Regeneration and 

Growth Board, provides oversight of delivery across the County.  
 

• Through the West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee a 
common and shared vision for West Northamptonshire is being developed in the 
Local Development Framework. The emerging Joint Core Strategy is currently 
out to consultation. 

 
• Through the Single Conversation in West Northamptonshire this will be related 

to what needs to be delivered and how this will be achieved. 
 

• WNDC needs to spearhead the delivery of major projects. Their role needs to be 
underpinned and actively supported by effective working mechanisms agreed by 
partners. 

 



 11 

APPENDIX TWO 
 

 
Urban Development Corporations’ Quinquennial  
Review  
Consultation

 

 

www.communities.gov.uk 
community, opportunity, prosperity 



 12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Communities and Local Government 
Eland House 
Bressenden Place 
London  
SW1E 5DU 
Telephone: 020 7944 4400 
Website: www.communities.gov.uk 
 
© Crown Copyright, 2009 
 
Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 
 
This publication, excluding logos, may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium for research, private study 
or for internal circulation within an organisation. This is subject to it being reproduced accurately and not used in a 
misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Crown copyright and the title of the publication specified. 
 
Any other use of the contents of this publication would require a copyright licence. Please apply for a Click-Use Licence 
for core material at www.opsi.gov.uk/click-use/system/online/pLogin.asp, or by writing to the Office of Public Sector 
Information, Information Policy Team, Kew, Richmond, Surrey, TW9 4DU 
 
Email: licensing@opsi.gov.uk 
 
If you require this publication in an alternative format please email alternativeformats@communities.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Communities and Local Government Publications 
Tel: 0300 123 1124 
Fax: 0300 123 1125  
Email: product@communities.gsi.gov.uk  
or online via the Communities and Local Government website: www.communities.gov.uk 
 
June 2009 
 
Reference number:  
ISBN: 978-1-4098-1572-3



 13

Contents  
 
Summary of consultation           4  
Introduction             6  
Urban Development Corporations: the rationale for their establishment    9 
London Thames Gateway Development Corporation     14  
Thurrock Thames Gateway Development Corporation    21  
West Northamptonshire Development Corporation     29  
Summary of questions asked        37  
About this consultation         42  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 14

Summary of consultation  
 
Scope of the consultation  
 
Topic of this 
consultation: 

Three Urban Development Corporations (UDCs) were established 
in 2004/5 as the most appropriate delivery bodies for securing 
regeneration and sustainable growth in their areas. We are now 
undertaking a Quinquennial Review of the UDCs. This consultation 
forms a part of that review. 

Scope of this 
consultation: 

The review is examining the future of the UDCs, in the light of what 
they have achieved since they were established; whether changes 
locally or regionally affect the continuing need for a UDC; the 
impact of the changing national context, particularly the 
establishment of the Homes and Communities Agency; and 
whether greater freedoms might enable the UDCs to operate more 
effectively. 

Geographical 
scope: 

East London (London Boroughs of Barking and Dagenham, 
Hackney, Havering, Newham, Tower Hamlets, Waltham Forest) 
Thurrock 
West Northamptonshire (Northampton, Daventry and Towcester) 

Impact 
Assessment: 

Full Regulatory impacts assessments were published for each 
UDC prior to their establishment and are republished with this 
consultation document. We welcome comments on whether the 
establishment of each UDC has achieved its intended effect. An 
updated impact assessment will be published following the 
consultation and the outcome of the Quinquennial Review. 
 
Previous RIAs can be found through the links below: 
London - http://www.communities.gov.uk/archived/general-
content/citiesandregions/sustainablecommunities/londonthamesga
teway/ 
 
WNDC - http://www.communities.gov.uk/archived/general-
content/citiesandregions/sustainablecommunitiesaudcforwes/west
northamptonshireudc/ 
 
Thurrock - http://www.communities.gov.uk/archived/general-
content/citiesandregions/communitiesurbandevelopmentcorpo/reg
ulatoryimpactassessment/ 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 15

Basic information  
 
To: The UDCs affected, and their staff 

Local authorities in the UDCs areas 
Local organisations and members of the public in the UDCs areas 

Body/bodies 
responsible 
for the 
consultation: 

Communities and Local Government is responsible for the UDC 
Quinquennial Review, and this consultation.  

Duration: The consultation begins on 22 June 2009. 
The consultation ends on 18 September 2009. 

Enquiries: Gillian Severin 
Communities and Local Government 
Zone 3/A1 
Eland House 
Bressenden Place 
London 
SW1E 6DU 

Telephone: 020 7944 2406 

UDConsultation@communities.gsi.gov.uk 

How to 
respond: 

Please send or email responses to the enquiry address above by 
close of business on 18 September 2009. 

Additional 
ways to 
become 
involved: 

If you require this material in an alternative format, please contact 
us at the enquiry address above. 

After the 
consultation: 

The outcome of the Quinquennial Review will be determined as 
soon as possible after the consultation ends. A copy of the 
announcement will be sent to all respondents. 

Compliance 
with the Code 
of Practice on 
Consultation: 

This consultation is fully compliant with the Code of Practice on 
Consultation. 
The full Code of Practice can be found through the below link 
http://www.berr.gov.uk/whatwedo/bre/consultation-
guidance/page44420.html  

 
Background  
 
Getting to this 
stage, 
including 
previous 
engagement: 

Communities and Local Government has considered the broad 
terms, scope and approach to the Quinquennial Review. The 
outline, but not the detailed questions, has been shared with the 
UDC Boards who have had the opportunity to comment. 



 16

1 INTRODUCTION 

 
 

1.1 Purpose of consultation 

 
1.1.1 The Government established three Urban Development Corporations (UDCs) 

in the London and Thurrock parts of the Thames Gateway and in the West 
Northamptonshire part of the Milton Keynes South Midlands (MKSM) Growth 
Area in 2004/5. At the time of their establishment the Government committed 
to reviewing the UDCs after five years. The Quinquennial Review of the 
UDCs, now beginning, fulfils that commitment. This consultation forms part of 
the review and will be taken into consideration by ministers in reaching their 
conclusions. 

1.1.2 The review is considering in each case: 

• whether the UDCs have fulfilled the rationale for establishing them, and 
how well they have performed, including progress against the targets they 
were set, since they were established; 

• whether changes locally or regionally affect the continuing need for a 
UDC, or the extent of its powers; 

• the impact of the changing national context, particularly the establishment 
of the Homes and Communities Agency; 

• efficiency, in the light of the Government’s Operational Efficiency 
Programme1 which is looking at achieving greater efficiencies in a number 
of cross-cutting areas, including back office operations and IT, and 
collaborative procurement; 

• whether there are obstacles that if removed, or greater freedoms that if 
given, would enable the UDCs to operate more effectively. 

1.1.3 As a part of the review, ministers want to know stakeholder views on these 
matters. This consultation forms a part of the Quinquennial Review. Views are 
invited on particular questions and will be taken into consideration by 
ministers when considering the way forward. 

                                                 
1 Operational Efficiency Programme: Final Report (HM Treasury, 21 April 2009) can be found at 
http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/d/oep_final_report_210409_pu728.pdf 



 17

1.1.4 This consultation paper sets out the rationale for the establishment of the 
UDCs, describes the changing national context, options for the future, and 
explores specific issues for each of the Corporations at this time. 

1.1.5 In addition to the responses to this consultation exercise, ministers will also be 
taking into consideration the successes of the UDCs in establishing a clear 
regeneration framework and vision for their work, success in implementing 
key projects, performance in handling planning applications and overall cost 
effectiveness and value for money. 

The Government believes that the situation of each Corporation is very 
different, as shown in chapters 3 - 5. It is therefore carrying out its review in 
such a way as would allow different decisions about the future for each 
Corporation. Respondents to the consultation are asked, therefore, to make 
clear in their response whether they are commenting generally on the 
Corporations, or specifically in relation to a particular Corporation. 

 

Response to consultation 

 
1.1.6 This consultation paper invites your views on the specific questions set out 

(and summarised in section 6), which cover: 

• the future of the Urban Development Corporations, taking into account 
what has happened locally since they were established, and changes 
in the national context; 

• whether the powers of the Urban Development Corporations should be 
changed.  

• the progress of the Urban Development Corporations to date. 

1.1.7 Responses to this consultation paper should be sent to: 

Gillian Severin 
Communities and Local Government 
Zone 3/A1 
Eland House 
Bressenden Place 
London 
SW1E 6DU 

UDConsultation@communities.gsi.gov.uk 

1.1.8 Responses should reach the Department no later than 18 September 2009. 



 18

1.1.9 Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and 
organisations they; represent, and where relevant who else they have 
consulted in reaching their conclusions when they respond. 

1.1.10 A copy of this document will also be made available on the internet at: 

www.communities.gov.uk 

 

Confidentiality and data protection 

 
1.1.11 Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal 

information, may be published or disclosed in accordance with the access to 
information regimes (these are primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 
(FOIA). the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) and the Environmental 
Information Regulations 2004). 

1.1.12 If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, 
please be aware that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code of Practice 
with which public authorities must comply and which deals, amongst other 
things, with obligations of confidence. In view of this it would be helpful if you 
could explain to us why you regard the information you have provided as 
confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will 
take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that 
confidentiality can be maintained in all circumstances. An automatic 
confidentiality disclaimer generated by your IT system will not, of itself, be 
regarded as binding on the department. 

1.1.13 The Department for Communities and Local Government will process your 
personal data in accordance with DPA and in the majority of circumstances 
this will mean that your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. 



 19

2 URBAN DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATIONS: THE RATIONALE 
FOR THEIR ESTABLISHMENT 

 

Sustainable Communities: Building for the Future 

 
2.1.1 In February 2003, the then Office of the Deputy Prime Minister published the 

action plan Sustainable Communities: Building for the Future2, (the 
Sustainable Communities Plan), an action plan for a step change in delivering 
housing to address the problems of affordability and to create successful, 
thriving and inclusive communities. To accommodate the economic success 
of London and the wider South East and to sustain the international 
competitiveness of the region, the plan identified four ‘growth areas’ as the 
focus for housing and economic growth: the Thames Gateway, Ashford, 
Milton Keynes-South Midlands and London-Stansted-Cambridge-
Peterborough. 

2.1.2 The plan included a commitment in these growth areas to set up strengthened 
local delivery vehicles where necessary with the powers to drive forward 
development and the investment, both public and private, it required. It 
recognised that in certain locations with clear regeneration needs and large 
scale or particularly difficult sites, the funding, singular focus and special 
powers of a statutory UDC would be required to deliver the necessary change 
and maximise private investment.  Other delivery vehicle models across the 
growth areas include local authority partnerships, companies limited by 
guarantee, Urban Regeneration Companies, and in Milton Keynes a statutory 
Urban Development Area. 

2.1.3 The plan indicated this approach would be needed in the London and 
Thurrock parts of the Thames Gateway growth area. The first report on 
implementing the plan3 accepted local partners’ proposal for a UDC for the 
West Northamptonshire part of the Milton Keynes South Midlands growth 
area.  

2.1.4 Each UDC was established only after full public consultation and detailed 
Parliamentary scrutiny and approval of the proposals. 

                                                 
2 ODPM, Sustainable Communities: Building for the Future, 2003 
3 ODPM, Creating sustainable communities: Making it happen: Thames Gateway and the Growth Areas, 2003 



 20

 

The Role of a UDC 

 
2.1.5 The statutory objective and powers of a UDC are set out in section 136 of the 

Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980. A UDC’s objective is to 
secure the regeneration of its area. This is to be achieved in particular 
through: 

• Bringing land and buildings into effective use 

• Encouraging the development of existing and new industry and commerce; 

• Creating an attractive environment; and 

• Ensuring that housing and social facilities are available to encourage 
people to live and work in the area. 

2.1.6 For the purpose of achieving the regeneration of its area, a UDC may 

• Acquire, hold, manage, reclaim and dispose of land and other property; 

• Carry out building and other operations; 

• Seek to ensure the provision of water, electricity, gas, sewerage and other 
services; 

• Carry on any business or undertaking for the purposes of regenerating its 
area; and 

• Generally do anything necessary or expedient for this purpose, or for 
purposes incidental to those purposes. 

2.1.7 UDCs were set up as limited-life bodies. It is important that they focus on 
achievement within a clear timescale rather than regarding themselves as 
having an open-ended remit. Typical life spans for past UDCs have been 
seven to ten years. This gives them sufficient time to develop and implement 
a strategy to tackle the complex land assembly problems in the area.  

 

 

Consultation 

 
2.1.8  In consulting on the establishment of the UDCs in London, Thurrock and 

West Northamptonshire, the government set out in more detail the rationale 
for their establishment. 



 21

2.1.9 In both the Thames Gateway and the Milton Keynes South Midlands growth 
areas, it was recognised that different arrangements for delivery were 
appropriate in different locations. In what are now the London, Thurrock and 
West Northamptonshire UDC areas, 

“… the scale and intensity of the task of land assembly and site preparation are more suited 
to a UDC with its focus, planning powers, integration of regeneration effort and ability to 
generate increased private investor confidence…”4 

 

Subsequent developments 

 
2.1.10 Much has happened in the five years since the UDCs were established. Of 

greatest significance is the current recession, which is impacting appreciably 
on the UDCs current Corporate and Business Plans. Another significant 
development is the creation of the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). 

2.1.11 The Homes and Communities Agency is the national housing and 
regeneration delivery agency for England. Its role is to create opportunity for 
people to live in high quality, sustainable places. It provides funding for 
affordable housing, bringing land back into productive use and improving 
quality of life by raising standards for the physical and social environment. 
From 1 December 2008, HCA took responsibility for the Thames Gateway 
and growth areas programmes formerly operated by Communities and Local 
Government. 

2.1.12 In the Thames Gateway, the HCA has a wide remit. It is responsible for 
“securing delivery of the Government’s Thames Gateway ambitions”, 
including sustainable economic growth, an enhanced residential offer, and the 
establishment of the Thames Gateway as an eco-region. CLG’s role is now 
responsible for the definition of the Government’s ambitions for the Thames 
Gateway, the coordination of the work of Government departments in support 
of achieving Government’s Thames Gateway ambitions and the sponsorship 
of the two Thames Gateway UDCs. 

2.1.13 Given these different roles, CLG and HCA have entered into a Memorandum 
of Understanding in relation to the Thames Gateway under the provisions of 
which: 

• the UDCs’ programmes are expected to be consistent with the HCA’s 
strategy and programme for the Thames Gateway as a whole; 

                                                 
4 ODPM, Sustainable Communities: An Urban Development Corporation for The London Thames Gateway, 
2003; ODPM, Sustainable Communities: An Urban Development Corporation for West Northamptonshire, 2004 



 22

• the HCA manages the overall Thames Gateway budget, and gives advice 
to CLG on the UDCs budgets and the management of this in-year; 

• the HCA gives strategic and technical advice to CLG on approval of 
projects that are above the UDCs’ own delegated authority but within their 
approved Corporate Plans. 

2.1.14 In the other growth areas the HCA leads on supporting local authorities and 
delivery partners on delivery on the ground, making Growth Fund payments in 
line with ministerial allocations, and providing advice on programme priorities 
and delivery, best practice sharing, capacity building, and supporting work 
with local stakeholders to address local barriers to housing growth.  Local 
delivery vehicles continue to co-ordinate and take forward local delivery plans 
working in partnership with local authorities and the HCA. 

 

Options for the future 

 
2.1.15 The Government considers that for each UDC there are a range of different 

options for the future. Most obviously, since the UDCs are deliberately limited 
life bodies, a UDC could be retained for the remainder of their planned 
lifespan. Alternatively, a UDC could be dissolved. If dissolved, there are a 
range of successor institutional models that could be adopted.  

2.1.16 Options for the future therefore include: 

• Option 1 – No change Given the stage reached in their work, and their 
plans for the future, the UDCs could continue in their current form, with no 
change planned for the remainder of their respective life spans. 

• Option 2 – UDC becomes an agent of the HCA The UDCs could be 
appointed by the HCA to act as its agent in the UDC area, for all or some 
of the HCA’s functions. This would extend the work of UDCs, covering 
regeneration of land and provision of infrastructure, social housing 
provision, etc. 

• Option 3 – Return Powers to Local Authorities The UDCs could be 
dissolved with the relevant local authorities resuming powers and 
responsibilities transferred to the UDCs, with the Homes and Communities 
Agency assuming responsibility for assets and for supporting the local 
authorities in delivering their regeneration and growth plans as part of the 
‘single conversation’5 process. 

                                                 
5 The ‘single conversation’ is HCA’s business model. More details can be found at 
http://www.homesandcommunities.co.uk/singleconversation.htm 



 23

• Option 4 – New form of Delivery Mechanism The UDCs could be 
dissolved but with a new form of delivery mechanism put in place.  Some 
possible options include: 

• Option 4a – HCA Sub-Committee – The UDCs could be   
dissolved, but with the HCA being designated as the planning 
authority (in relation to development control) for the area.  This is 
similar to the model that is used to support delivery in Milton 
Keynes.  Designation of the HCA as planning authority would be 
subject to Parliamentary approval. 

• Option 4b – HCA Company  The HCA could establish a company 
to succeed the UDCs and to which their assets would be 
transferred. 

• Option 4c – Economic Development Company  Establishing a 
non statutory Economic Development Company to support the local 
authorities in delivering their regeneration and growth plans.  

If dissolved, the planning powers of a UDC would cease. However, planning 
powers could be conferred on the HCA if required. 
 

2.1.17 We invite views on the applicability of any of these options, or others that 
stakeholders wish to propose, to each UDC in the chapters that follow. 

 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 24

3 LONDON THAMES GATEWAY 
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

 

History 

 
3.1.1 The London Thames Gateway Development Corporation (LTGDC) was 

established on 26 June 20046, its Board appointed on 1 November 2004, and 
it became fully operational when planning powers were transferred to it in 
October 2005. In its response to the consultation on establishing a UDC, the 
Government said that LTGDC should initially be established for ten years, with 
full review after five years. 

3.1.2 The LTGDC operates in two non-contiguous parts of East London: the Lower 
Lea Valley and London Riverside. 

 

3.1.3 The Lower Lea Valley stretches from the 2012 Olympic Games site at 
Stratford, south to the River Thames. It is bounded by Hackney Wick and 
Hackney Marshes to the north and extends eastwards from the A12 to the rail 
line between Stratford and Canning Town. The area is home to some of the 
most deprived communities in the UK and has been identified as the inner 
London area with the greatest potential for regeneration – it is estimated that 
25% of London’s growth will take place in this area. The successful 2012 
Games and Stratford City development will act as a driver for investment over 

                                                 
6 by the London Thames Gateway Development Corporation (Area & Constitution) Order, S1642/2004 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 25

the next 30-40 years. The former Mayor of London’s Opportunity Areas 
Planning Framework, adopted in February 2008, anticipated 40,000 new 
homes and 50,000 jobs in the area. 

3.1.4 London Riverside, downstream of the Thames from the Lower Lea Valley, 
takes in Beckton in the west, Barking and South Dagenham, and Rainham in 
the east. Here, a modern linear city is planned to be created, reinvigorating 
30km of neglected Thames frontage. Ultimately, a new community of 20,000 
people will live on 210 hectares of currently disused land. The emphasis will 
be on bringing a new quality of life appropriate to the twenty-first century. Well 
located schools and health centres will serve new and existing residents, while 
the new parklands will be biggest new leisure area in the capital for more than 
a century, attracting around one million visitors each year.  

3.1.5 Since LTGDC was established, total capital spend from set up to end 08/09 
was £133.5m, of central government funding to ready sites for development in 
key locations in both the Lower Lea Valley and London Riverside. It has a 
further £80m of central government funding for the period 2009-11. 

Key achievements over the last five years 

Lower Lea Valley 
• Delivered a comprehensive masterplan for Canning Town and Custom House 

in partnership with the London Borough of Newham which will see the delivery 
of 10,000 new homes and a new town centre 

• Led on securing £18m CIF funding and the subsequent planning consent for 
the removal of the A13 roundabout at Canning Town and remodelling of the 
traffic layout to improve pedestrian connections 

• Key partner in the establishment of the National Skills Academy for Financial 
Services with Tower Hamlets College 

• Delivered a vision for the Lea River Park which includes new parkland, 
walkways and bridges along the Lower Lea from the Olympic Park to the river 
Thames 

• Key partner in delivering the £24m Prescott Lock which enables the Lea River 
to support leisure activities and allow commercial water freight to service the 
construction of the Olympic venues 

• Led work on masterplanning the areas around the Olympic Park to ensure 
appropriate integration with the park and has been working closely with the 
Olympic Delivery Authority, the LDA and the five host boroughs on legacy 
planning for the Olympic Park. 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 26

London Riverside 
• Led on the preparation of a strategic masterplan for the River Roding area of 

Barking which has identified potential for up to 4000 new homes 
• Acquired five parcels of land at Abbey Road, Barking forming the first phases 

of a new Creative Industries Quarter. As part of phase 1 we have refurbished 
the historic Malthouse building which is now occupied by a range of arts 
companies and artists 

• Supported the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham in the delivery of 
the award winning Town Square development. Investment by LTGDC has 
assisted with site assembly and ensuring a high quality public realm. 

• Assembled over 40 acres of land at Dagenham Dock which will form the first 
phase of the London Sustainable Industries Park (SIP). The park will provide 
land and accommodation for Environmental Technology businesses and act 
as a focus for the development of a Green Technology sector in east London. 
The first occupier, Closed Loop Recycling opened in June 2008. Terms have 
been agreed that will see construction of a 20,000 sq. metre energy-from-
waste facility under construction by Summer 2010. 

• In partnership with the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham and the 
LDA, LTGDC has lead of the delivery of a comprehensive masterplan for 
South Dagenham and Chequers corner which identifies potential for up to 
3000 new homes together with a new school. LTGDC has acquire the former 
Dagenham Motors showroom to assist in bringing forward this development 

• In partnership with London Borough of Havering LTGDC has delivered 
comprehensive masterplans for Rainham Village Centre and the adjoining 
A1306 corridor. These will now be adopted as supplementary planning 
guidance by LBH and make provision for over 3200 new homes together with 
business and education space. 

• LTGDC has acquired the former Carpetright warehouse site on the A1306 and 
leased part of the site to Havering College who will open a Construction Skills 
Training Centre in September 2009. Terms have also been agreed for 
Havering College to acquire 5 acres at the site to develop a College Campus. 
A planning application for a 10,000 sq. metre college was submitted in May 
and it is expected that a start on site will be made during 2010. 

• LTGDC with partners has delivered a vision for ‘Wildspace’ a new parkland on 
acres of land owned by the RSPB, LBH and Veolia. LTGDC grant funding has 
supported an award winning new visitor centre, marshland discovery zones 
and new paths and bridges opening up the area to the local population and 
visitors and providing accommodation for education projects. 

 

 
 
 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 27

Other achievements 
• Established comprehensive regeneration frameworks for each area which set 

out clear visions and costed infrastructure requirements for the delivery of 
68,000 homes and 70,000 jobs 

• Established projects to support over 20 schools striving for enhanced 
standards of excellence or extended employer engagement 

• From October 2005 to end of March 2009 the LTGDC granted planning 
permission for 9,238 homes (24% affordable) and employment space that is 
calculated to deliver 9,569 jobs 

• The LTGDC has taken a number of strategic planning decisions which are 
often controversial and require significant resourcing and support e.g. KICC 
application in Havering 

• While not a plan making body the Corporation plays an active role in helping 
boroughs to produce the various documents for their LDF process. Being 
involved in drafting and funding key documents such as an AAP for Barking 
Town Centre, on an AAP for Stratford and the Lower Lea Valley and a Land 
Use and Design Brief for Bromley by Bow. 

 

Question 1: How successful has LTGDC been in securing the regeneration of 
its area? 
 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 2: How successful has LTGDC been in assembling land and 
preparing sites for development? 
 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 3: How successful has LTGDC been in creating private sector 
confidence and maximising private sector investment? 
 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 28

Question 4: How successful has LTGDC been in encouraging existing and new 
industry and commerce, creating an attractive environment and ensuring social 
facilities to encourage people to live in the area? 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

The future 

3.1.6 In the light of the history of LTGDC, developments since it was established 
(set out in section 3.1.5 above), the Government now invites stakeholder 
views on the future of LTGDC. The Government’s approach is that delivery 
arrangements should best reflect local circumstances, with no ‘one size fits all’ 
approach. 

Question 5: Of the options set out in section 2.1.16, which option would best meet 
local circumstances and deliver the regeneration and sustainable housing growth 
planned in the Lower Lea Valley and London Riverside? 
 
• Option 1 

• Option 2 

• Option 3 

• Option 4 

• None of these - an alternative option (please describe) 

Question 6: If you have selected Option 4, which of the following options would best 
meet local circumstances? 

• Option 4a 

• Option 4b 

• Option 4c 

• None of these - an alternative option (please describe) 

 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 29

3.1.7 The consultation on establishing the UDC proposed to transfer certain 
planning powers to it. In its response, government confirmed that LGTDC 
would be the local planning authority for strategic planning applications directly 
relevant to its purpose (ie applications concerning more than 50 dwellings or 
2,500 sq m of business floor space etc) within its area7. Planning functions 
were transferred to LTGDC on 31 October 20058. The Mayor of London and 
the London Boroughs retained plan-making powers, against which planning 
applications are determined. 

 
Question 7: Do the LTGDC’s planning powers need to be modified (in so far as the 
current law allows) in the light of experience? If so, in what way(s)? 
 
 

3.1.8 Since LTGDC was established, in addition to the general changes in 
circumstances set out in section 2.1.10 – 2.1.14, there have been two local 
developments of organisational significance to LTGDC. 

The Homes and Communities Agency London Board 

3.1.9 On the establishment of the HCA, it established the HCA London Board, 
recognising that it is the only region in which there is directly elected regional 
government. The HCA London Board promotes the delivery of housing and 
regeneration and associated infrastructure in London, having regard to the 
London Housing Strategy, the London Economic Development Strategy, the 
London Plan and other associated strategies, together with relevant national 
policies and directives. It will oversee and direct the programme of the HCA in 
London. It is critical that the work of the LTGDC is aligned with that of HCA in 
London, and therefore the strategic direction of the HCA London Board. 

3.1.10 That alignment is achieved through: 

• the arrangements for HCA to advise CLG on the LTGDC’s plans (see 
paragraph 2.1.13); and 

• the Chair of the LTGDC being a member of the HCA London Board. 

Question 8: Are the arrangements already made to ensure alignment of the work of 
LTGDC and HCA in London sufficient? If not, what further arrangements should be 
put in place? 

                                                 
7 excepting the Olympic Park and Stratford City sites the planning powers in relation to which now lie 
with the Olympic Delivery Authority (see The Olympic Delivery Authority (Planning Functions) Order 
2006 (SI2006/2185) and the London Thames Gateway Development Corporation (Planning Functions) 
(Amendment) Order 2006 (SI2006/2186)) 
8 by the London Thames Gateway Development Corporation (Planning Functions) Order 2005 
(SI2005/2721) 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 30

Olympic Park Legacy Company 

3.1.11 More recently, the Mayor of London and the Government have announced 
their intention to establish the Olympic Park Legacy Company (OPLC), 
responsible for the redevelopment and regeneration of the Olympic Park. At 
the heart of the project is the creation of new communities centred on the 
Olympic parkland and venues, in an area within one of the two LTGDC areas. 
It will be critical to the success of the OPLC that its work and that of LTGDC 
dovetail together. 

3.1.12 The foundations for this have been laid through the partnership planning the 
legacy programme that, prior to prior to OPLC becoming operational, has 
been co-ordinated by the London Development Agency (LDA). This 
partnership already includes all the key public sector bodies, including the 
London Thames Gateway Development Corporation. But whether, once OPLC 
becomes operational, there should be more a formal relationship between it 
and LTGDC – such as a memorandum of understanding – will be considered 
further as the work to establish the company proceeds. In the meantime 
stakeholder views are invited on this in the context of the Quinquennial 
Review. 

Question 9: Should the London Thames Gateway Development Corporation have a 
formal relationship with the OPLC? If yes, is a Memorandum of Understanding the 
best way to establish such a relationship? 
 
 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 31

4 THURROCK THAMES 
GATEWAY DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION 

History 

4.1.1 The Thurrock Thames Gateway Development Corporation (TTGDC) was 
established on 29 October 20039, its Board was appointed on 1 January 2004 
and it became fully operational when planning powers were transferred to it on 
12 October 2005. A limited life body, TTGDC’s projected wind-up date was 
extended in 2007 from 31 March 2011 to 2014. 

4.1.2 The TTGDC operates in the whole of Thurrock. 

 
4.1.3 Situated just to the East of London, Thurrock comprises the urban settlements 

of Purfleet, Grays, and Tilbury to the south, Aveley and South Ockendon to 
the west, Stanford-le-Hope and Corringham to the east and more scattered 
rural communities to the north. Famous for Lakeside shopping centre, the 
borough is home also to several important industrial sites including Coryton Oil 
Refinery and the Port of Tilbury. 

4.1.4 Besides its centres of employment, Thurrock is also strategically positioned on 
several key transport corridors including: 

                                                 
9 by the Thurrock Development Corporation (Area and Constitution) Order, SI2896/2003 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 32

• the M25 London orbital motorway, including the Thurrock - Dartford 
crossing; 

• the A13 arterial trunk road (London to south Essex) 

• fast passenger rail to London (from Purfleet 30 mins) ; 

• freight from the South Essex ports cluster to the rest of the country. 

4.1.5 Thurrock has the potential to significantly enhance its role as an important 
centre for international trade and enterprise. There are also extensive 
brownfield sites along Thurrock's riverfront which provide some of the greatest 
residential, commercial and industrial development opportunities in the 
country. However, Thurrock has a wide range of complex land-use and land 
assembly problems that currently constrain housing and economic growth. In 
essence, the narrow economic base and low value economy constrain what 
can be achieved in one of the most acutely deprived areas of South Essex, 
without focused intervention. 

4.1.6 Since TTGDC was established, it has invested around £86m of central 
government funding to acquire and ready sites for development in key 
locations throughout Thurrock. It has a further £60m of central government 
funding for the period 2009-11. 

Key achievements over the last five years 

Establishing a Policy Framework 
• approved its Regeneration Framework and Spatial Plan for Thurrock providing 

a clear land use policy framework to guide and influence the regeneration and 
development of the borough;  

• approved Master Plans for Purfleet, Grays Town Centre, Lakeside and West 
Thurrock, Aveley & South Ockendon and East Thurrock 

• drafted and consulted on Master Plans for South East Thurrock, (Tilbury, 
Chadwell St Mary, East Tilbury, Linford), and North Grays (open land to North 
and East of Grays town). 

• Completed Development Briefs for three areas of Grays Town Centre (North, 
South and Riverside) and preparing development briefs for Purfleet Town 
Centre and West Thurrock Riverside. 

• completed and approved the preparation of an Economic Development 
Strategy and Implementation Plan for Thurrock focusing on indigenous growth, 
sector diversification and inward investment. The strategy builds on the 
Corporation’s land use policy framework directing interventions to secure jobs 
and business growth within the Corporation’s five economic hubs;  



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 33

• commissioned and co-funded the development of a Sports and Active 
Recreation Facilities Strategy and Implementation Plan to inform key decisions 
on the future provision of sports and active recreation facilities across the 
borough. 

Policy Delivery 

• established a partnership with the Royal Opera House, Thurrock Council, the 
Arts Council England East and the East of England Development Agency to 
bring the Royal Opera House fabrication facility and its costume archive to 
Purfleet. As part of this project partners are also working with the Sector Skills 
Council for Creative and Cultural Skills to secure for Purfleet the development 
of a National Skills Academy for the performing arts and live music sectors. 
The Learning and Skills Council has approved the business plan for the 
Academy. This is a £60m public sector led project and will become a Gateway 
exemplar of arts and culture led regeneration;  

• awarded grant funding in excess of £4 million in support of transport and 
social infrastructure projects including the development of a new roundabout 
at Stonehouse Corner in Purfleet, a major extension to Thurrock’s cycle 
network and a cyber café and improved classroom facilities at the Thurrock 
Adult Community College; 

• in partnership with the learning and skills sector commissioned and co-funded 
the preparation of a comprehensive Post 14, FE/HE, Community Education 
and Workforce Development Strategy which is now being used to inform key 
decisions on the future provision of Thurrock’s learning services and the 
location of important new learning infrastructure. The approach taken by the 
Corporation and its partners has secured Learning and Skills Council funding 
of £100m which has been ring fenced to support the proposed development of 
a new Learning Campus in Grays Town Centre and incorporated land use 
proposals for the new facility within the emerging Grays Town Centre Master 
Plan and Southern Quarter Development Brief.  To build capacity for the new 
learning campus a temporary facility of was constructed in Grays Town 
Centre.  The Corporation granted £228,000 towards the new Centre of 
Vocational Excellence in IT at the new  

• facility, which opened in January 2009 and has already attracted over 100 
students. 

• established the Corporation’s Community Development Fund for small scale 
voluntary and community sector projects to develop stronger links and 
relationships with local communities whilst the Corporation’s major projects 
are being assembled. The Corporation has distributed £588,000 to over 100 
groups since its creation. The recipients are involved in a variety of kinds of 
activity that will help to further the achievement of the Development 
Corporation’s regeneration goals. The beneficiaries are all local and the grants 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 34

have supported sports and leisure activities, community premises 
improvements, health and welfare pursuits and environmental heritage 
projects. Over £1,000,000 of additional funding has been brought to projects 
as a direct or indirect result of the Community Fund. 

• The Corporation granted over £1.8m to help develop the RSPB Nature 
Reserve on the Rainham Marshes and also helped fund the award winning 
RSPB Visitor Centre; 

• The Corporation awarded £292,000 to the Corringham Fire Station 
Community Safety Centre, which housing advanced youth and fire break 
activities, including the highly successful Firebreak scheme where fire fighters 
act as community role models and mentors to support young people who have 
“lost their way” in life.   

• The Corporation awarded a total of £990,000 (£250,000 disbursed in 2008/09) 
to Thurrock Council towards the West Thurrock Civic Amenity Site, which will 
provide new recycling and re-use facilities in the Borough, this facility is set to 
open in Autumn 2009. 

Strategic Land Acquisition 

• The Corporation has acquired 36.5 hectares of land and currently has a 
further 51.9 hectares under negotiation on which it needs to start its planned 
programme of strategic interventions. In addition, the Corporation has under 
option through either Option Agreements, Joint Venture Agreements or 
Equitable Interests a further 116.5 hectares in its control. The land acquisition 
effort is of particular importance as the Corporation was established without 
any land asset base and sufficient additional funding or the ability to raise it on 
the market must be provided in the near future to enable this work to continue;  

• as part of its PRIDe initiative the Corporation has acquired approximately 
15.73 hectares of land in Botany Way Quarry in Purfleet and a further 8.8 a 
hectares on Purfleet Waterfront in order to deliver against the land use and 
regeneration objectives of its Purfleet Master Plan and evolving Purfleet 
Centre Development Brief. This initiative will create a new residential and 
mixed use centre for Purfleet and will secure the provision of new social 
infrastructure including: a new three form entry primary school; health and 
social care facilities; new and improved public open space; and improvements 
to the local transport network. On completion this initiative will provide circa 
3,000 new homes and over 1,000 jobs;  

• acquired land at Tilbury that will assist the Corporation in its ambition to 
relocate some commercial and industrial activity away from planned and 
established residential communities in Thurrock; 

• secured the last and most important major riverside site (9.6 hectares) for 
housing and commercial development on the western fringe of Grays Town 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 35

Centre in partnership with the East of England Development Agency and 
Family Mosaic Housing. A planning application is in process and the 
redevelopment of this site will provide circa 1200 new homes and establish a 
new community on the West Thurrock Thames Riverside;  

• acquired land and initiated compulsory purchase proceedings to assemble a 
strategic site at Hogg Lane South in order to accommodate a New Generation 
Community Hospital. Located in close proximity to the town centre and its 
transport interchange this important new public infrastructure will provide a 
fully integrated 21st Century health and social care facility for the residents of 
Thurrock. 

• acquired 2 sites on London Road in West Thurrock amounting to over 7 acres.  
These will fulfil the Lakeside and West Thurrock’s Master Plan ambition to 
create a high quality residential led development in West Thurrock. 

• Acquired the former Post Office in Grays High Street. This will create a 
Learning Shop facility in partnership with the University of East London and 
EEDA providing information, advice, guidance and training in order to improve 
post 16 education participation rates in Thurrock. Co-located will be a 
Business Support Centre with services to be provided by Business Link and 
Thurrock Enterprise Agency to support small and medium enterprises. This 
co-location will also exploit the synergies of improved learning and improved 
business performance. 

Determining Planning Applications 

• Since it acquired its planning powers on 12 October 2005, the Corporation has 
determined 194 planning applications generating consents for over 1,500 housing 
units and approximately 3,800 jobs on implementation and raising approximately 
£1.6 million in S.106 contributions towards local infrastructure.  In 2008/09 the 
Corporation gave consent to developments that will provide over 1,400 homes and 
1,050 jobs.  

Question 10: How successful has TTGDC been in securing the regeneration of 
its area? 
 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 11: How successful has TTGDC been in assembling land and 
preparing sites for development? 
• Not at all successful 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 36

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 12: How successful has TTGDC been in creating private sector 
confidence and maximising private sector investment? 

• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 13: How successful has TTGDC been in encouraging existing and 
new industry and commerce, creating an attractive environment and ensuring 
social facilities to encourage people to live in the area? 

• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

The future 

4.1.7 Notwithstanding progress by TTGDC, much remains to be done to achieve by 
2021 the goals set for Thurrock. The challenges remaining are significant: 

• a narrow employment base 

• low educational attainment and poor skills development 

• poor quality of the built environment 

• lack of investment in Thurrock’s riverside and town centres 

• areas of acute social deprivation 

• comparatively low property values 

4.1.8 In the light of the history of TTGDC, developments since it was established (as 
set out in section 3.1.5) and the outstanding needs of Thurrock the 
Government invites stakeholder views on the future of TTGDC. The 
Government’s approach is that delivery arrangements should best reflect local 
circumstances, with no ‘one size fits all’ approach. 

Question 14:  Of the options set out in section 2.1.16, which option would best 
meet local circumstances and deliver the regeneration and sustainable housing 
growth planned in Thurrock? 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 37

 
• Option 1 

• Option 2 

• Option 3 

• Option 4 

• None of these - an alternative option (please describe) 

Question 15: If you have selected Option 4, which of the following options would 
best meet local circumstances? 

• Option 4a 

• Option 4b 

• Option 4c 

• None of these - an alternative option (please describe) 

4.1.9 The consultation on establishing the UDC proposed to transfer certain 
planning powers to it. In its response, government confirmed that TTGDC 
would be the local planning authority for strategic planning applications directly 
relevant to its purpose (ie applications concerning more than 50 dwellings or 
2,500 sq m of business floorspace etc) within its area. Planning functions were 
transferred to TTGDC on 12 October 200510. Thurrock Borough Council 
retained plan-making powers, against which planning applications are 
determined. 

Question 16: Do the TTGDC’s planning powers need to be modified (in so far as the 
current law allows) in the light of experience? If so, in what way(s)? 
 

4.1.10 There have been no locally specific changes of circumstance of organisational 
significance to TTGDC relevant to this consultation since it was established.  

 

                                                 
10 by the Thurrock Development Corporation (Planning Functions) Order 2005, which came into force 
on 12 October 2005 (SI2005/2572) 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 38

5 WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE 
DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION 

Background 

5.1.1 West Northamptonshire is part of the Milton Keynes South Midlands (MKSM) 
growth area. The MKSM Sub-Regional Strategy, published in 2005, identifies 
Northampton as an important sub-regional centre with new development to be 
delivered through a mixture of urban regeneration, intensification and 
development of new sustainable urban extensions. It also identifies Daventry 
and Towcester as areas for growth. The East Midlands Regional Spatial 
Strategy confirms a target of 62,150 dwellings in West Northamptonshire 
between 2001 and 2026. 

5.1.2 The West Northamptonshire Development Corporation (WNDC) was 
established on 15 December 2004 and operates within three designated urban 
development areas in Northampton, Daventry and Towcester.  At the time of 
its establishment development patterns indicated major opportunities for 
boosting the economic strength of Northampton and neighbouring centres in 
Daventry and South Northampton, with scope to create an enhanced urban 
environment and improve public infrastructure through regeneration and high 
quality design focussing on a series of town centre and urban fringe sites. 

 
 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 39

5.1.3 In its response to the consultation on establishing a UDC, the Government 
said that WNDC should initially be established for ten years, with full review 
after five years, and the scope to extend the lifespan beyond this time if 
substantial regeneration was still required. 

 
 

Northampton will be transformed into a prosperous and dynamic regional city, 
with a growing knowledge economy.  Daventry and Towcester will become 
distinctive market towns.  West Northamptonshire will be better connected to 
regional, national and international markets, capitalising on its position at the 
centre of England. 

WNDC’s Vision 

5.1.4 The consultation on establishing the UDC also covered the use of certain 
planning powers by the Development Corporation, and in its response 
Government confirmed that WNDC would be the local planning authority for 
strategic planning applications directly relevant to its purpose in the outer 
planning functions area - Northampton, Daventry and Towcester (ie 
applications covering more than 50 dwellings or 2,500 sq m of business floor 
space etc).    In Northampton’s central area (the central planning functions 
area), given its strategic importance to the county, WNDC is responsible for 
determining most applications relevant to its purpose, except for broadly 
‘householder’ development.  WNDC was given planning functions by the West 
Northamptonshire (Planning Functions) Order 11on 6 April 2006.   

                                                 
11 SI 2006/616 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 40

5.1.5 The West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee was 
established in July 2008 to prepare joint local development documents and a 
joint local development scheme for the administrative areas of Northampton 
Borough Council, Daventry District Council and South Northamptonshire 
District Council.  This consultation document does not affect the Joint 
Strategic Planning Committee.  WNDC does not have development plan 
functions. 

5.1.6 The Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980 requires that UDCs have 
a chair, deputy chair and between 5 and 11 other members.  The West 
Northamptonshire Development Corporation (Area and Constitution) Order 
200412 establishes WNDC with a Board of 11 members, and a Chair and 
Deputy Chair, who are appointed by the Secretary of State.  The role of the 
Board is to set the strategic vision for the UDC and to take the decisions 
required to deliver it.  All appointments are made on merit following open 
competition, in line with the Code of Practice issued by the Commissioner for 
Public Appointments.  Six of the appointments are nominated by the local 
authorities, two by Northampton Borough Council (with each belonging to 
different political groups), two by Northamptonshire County Council, and one 
each from Daventry District Council and South Northamptonshire District 
Council, but are still considered in line with the public appointments Code of 
Practice.   

Progress 

5.1.7 Since being established, WNDC has given planning approval for nearly 5,000 
new homes and 400,000 square meters of commercial development, while 
securing over £21m in s106 contributions. WNDC has around 20,000 homes 
in live planning applications. 

5.1.8  WNDC has developed a Planning Obligations Strategy setting out a preferred 
approach for agreeing developer contributions towards infrastructure costs. It 
has completed its first agreement securing £8.7m in s106 contributions for the 
550 home Princess Marina Development.   In June 2009 WNDC also 
launched a consultation on its Manual for Design Codes, which will assist 
applicants deliver design solutions that enhance the character, style and 
identity of existing places. 

 

                                                 
12 SI 2004/3370 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 41

Infrastructure 

5.1.9 Since WNDC’s establishment it has invested around £45m of central 
government funding in infrastructure to deliver new homes and jobs, and has 
secured a further £32m of central, regional and European funding for the 
period 2009-11. This activity has levered nearly £140m additional investment 
from the public and private sector in Northampton, Daventry and Towcester.  

5.1.10 WNDC are working with the local authorities and key partners such as the 
Homes and Communities Agency to finalise an Infrastructure Plan to sit 
alongside the emerging Joint Core Strategy – together forming an integrated 
blueprint for sustainable growth. 

 

Northampton  
• £30m redevelopment plans for Castle Station, with funding in place to start 

design and technical studies.  
• Redevelopment of the Waterside in the town centre with WNDC 

progressing a master plan for mixed use development, and completing a 
number of key land acquisitions, with improvements to walking and cycle 
paths along the waterside.    

• An improved pedestrian friendly town centre public realm from Black Lion 
Hill, through Marefair and Gold St, scheduled for completion by the 
summer. 

• Completion of the Cross Valley Link Road and start of construction on the 
adjoining Sandy Lane Relief road, part funded by WNDC  

• Over £7m invested in the Upton Flood Mitigation works, preparing the 
town for growth and ensuring it has some of the UK’s leading flood 
defences.  

 

Daventry  
• Land and funding secured to deliver the iCon, an internationally important 

facility dedicated to delivering best practice in sustainable construction. 
• Funding for an improved library facility for the town and plans for a new 

learning quarter to house further and higher education campuses.  
• Funding to support design options for the Flore Weedon bypass, which will 

support the doubling of the town’s population.  
 

Towcester  
• Redevelopment of Towcester town centre, providing new civic, commercial 

and community facilities in the heart of the town 
• £2m invested to acquire strategic sites in the ‘Moat Lane Area’ to prepare 

the way for future development.        
 
 
Community 

5.1.11 WNDC has also established a £750,000 Stronger Communities Fund to 
support the activity of not for profit groups in growing communities and funded 
new community facilities at the Kings Park Youth and Conference Centre. 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 42

‘Construction Futures’ has been developed by WNDC with Northamptonshire 
Enterprise Ltd and the Learning Skills Council. It will use developer 
contributions to enable young people to receive practical construction skills 
training on new developments, alongside a tailored college programme. 
 

5.1.12 WNDC’S Corporate Plan13 identifies its key outputs for the period 2008-11. 
During the first half of the Corporate Plan period WNDC aims to determine a 
significant number of planning applications that, subject to approval, will 
enable West Northamptonshire’s housing trajectory to be met.  In the second 
half of the Corporate Plan period, the focus will be more on the delivery of 
infrastructure that enables planning approvals to be turned into real homes on 
the ground. 

Consultation Questions  

5.1.13 The Government’s approach is that delivery arrangements should best reflect 
local circumstances, with no ‘one size fits all’ approach. 

Question 17: How successful has WNDC been in securing the regeneration of its 
area? 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 18: How successful has WNDC been in assembling land and preparing 
sites for development? 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 19: How successful has WNDC been in creating private sector confidence 
and maximising private sector investment? 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

                                                 
13 http://www.wndc.co.uk/pdf/WNDC%20Corporate%20Plan%202008%20to%202011b.pdf 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 43

Question 20: How successful has WNDC been in encouraging existing and new 
industry and commerce, creating an attractive environment and ensuring social 
facilities to encourage people to live in the area? 

• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 21: Of the options set out in section 2.1.16, which option would best meet 
local circumstances and deliver the regeneration and sustainable housing growth 
planned in Northampton, Daventry and Towcester? 

• Option 1 

• Option 2 

• Option 3 

• Option 4 

• None of these - an alternative option (please describe) 

Question 22: If you have selected Option 4, which of the following options would best 
meet local circumstances? 

• Option 4a 

• Option 4b 

• Option 4c 

• None of these - an alternative option (please describe) 

 

5.1.14 In its response to the consultation on establishing a UDC, the Government 
said that WNDC should initially be established for ten years, with full review 
after five years, and the scope to extend the lifespan beyond this time if 
substantial regeneration was still required.   

 
 

Question 23: Is the assumption that WNDC should have a ten year lifespan still 
correct?  
 
Yes 
No 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 44

5.1.15 Giving UDCs development control powers allows them to deliver action quickly 
and effectively in areas of intended change.  

Question 24: Do WNDC’s planning powers need to be modified (in so far as the 
current law allows) in the light of experience?  If so, in what ways(s)?  

 

5.1.16 When Government consulted on establishing the UDC it only proposed one 
nominated appointment for each local authority to the WNDC Board.  This was 
changed reflecting recommendations made by the House of Lords Select 
Committee14 that held an inquiry into the proposals to establish the UDC, 
reflecting concerns about local accountability.  The Government believes that 
this level of local representation has been valuable, but believes that five 
years into the life of WNDC, it is right to review concerns about local 
accountability.  

Question 25:  Should the number of local authority nominated Board members 
remain unchanged?  
 
Yes 
No 
 

5.1.17 Where the local authority nominated appointments to the Board are 
Councillors it would be possible for them to serve their full three year term on 
the Board even if they no longer represented the largest party on the council, 
or if they were no longer a member of the Council.  This could impact on the 
local democratic accountability of the UDC, and the effective operation of the 
Board.   

5.1.18 An “ex-officio” member can sit on a body because of the fact they hold another 
position (the primary post).  Such ex officio members are not on the board (the 
second body) on a personal basis, but because of the other position they hold.  
If the holder of the “primary” post changes, then the ex officio representative 
on the second body changes to the new holder of the first post.   

 
Question 26: Should provision be made for ex offico appointments to the Board? 
 
Yes 
No 

                                                 
14 House of Lords Select Committee on the West Northamptonshire Development Corporation (Area 
and Constitution) Order 2004,  
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld200304/ldselect/ldwesnor/204/20403.htm 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 45

6 SUMMARY OF QUESTIONS 
ASKED 

 
 

Question 1: How successful has LTGDC been in securing the regeneration of 
its area? 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 2: How successful has LTGDC been in assembling land and 
preparing sites for development? 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 3: How successful has LTGDC been in creating private sector 
confidence and maximising private sector investment? 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 4: How successful has LTGDC been in encouraging existing and new 
industry and commerce, creating an attractive environment and ensuring social 
facilities to encourage people to live in the area? 
• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

 

 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 46

Question 5: Of the options set out in section 2.1.16, which option would best 
meet local circumstances and deliver the regeneration and sustainable housing 
growth planned in the Lower Lea Valley and London Riverside? 

• Option 1 

• Option 2 

• Option 3 

• Option 4 

• None of these – an alternative option (please describe) 

Question 6: If you have selected Option 4, which of the following options would 
best meet local circumstances? 

• Option 4a 

• Option 4b 

• Option 4c 

• None of these – an alternative option (please describe) 

Question 7: Do the LTGDC’s planning powers need to be modified (in so far as 
the current law allows) in the light of experience? If so, in what way(s)? 

Question 8: Are the arrangements already made to ensure alignment of the 
work of LTGDC and HCA in London sufficient? If not, what further 
arrangements should be put in place? 

Question 9: Should the London Thames Gateway Development Corporation 
have a formal relationship with the OPLC? If yes, is a Memorandum of 
Understanding the best way to establish such a relationship? 

Question 10: How successful has TTGDC been in securing the regeneration of 
its area? 

• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

 

Question 11: How successful has TTGDC been in assembling land and 
preparing sites for development? 

• Not at all successful 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 47

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 12: How successful has TTGDC been in creating private sector 
confidence and maximising private sector investment? 

• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 13: How successful has TTGDC been in encouraging existing and 
new industry and commerce, creating an attractive environment and ensuring 
social facilities to encourage people to live in the area? 

• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful  

• Unable to comment 

Question 14: Of the options set out in section 2.1.16, which option would best 
meet local circumstances and deliver the regeneration and sustainable housing 
growth planned in Thurrock? 

• Option 1 

• Option 2 

• Option 3 

• Option 4 

• None of these – an alternative option (please describe) 

Question 15: If you have selected Option 4, which of the following options 
would best meet local circumstances? 

• Option 4a 

• Option 4b 

• Option 4c 

• None of these – an alternative option (please describe) 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 48

Question 16: Do the TTGCS’s panning powers need to be modified (in so far as 
the current law allows) in light of experience? If so, in what way(s)? 

Question 17: How successful has WNDC been in securing the regeneration of 
its area? 

• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 18: How successful has WNDC been in assembling land and 
preparing sites for development? 

• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 19: How successful has WNDC been in creating private sector 
confidence and maximising private sector investment? 

• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 20: How successful has WNDC been in encouraging existing and new 
industry and commerce, creating an attractive environment and ensuring social 
facilities to encourage people to live in the area? 

• Not at all successful 

• Fairly successful 

• Very successful 

• Unable to comment 

Question 21: Of the options set out in section 2.1.16, which option would best 
meet local circumstances and deliver the regeneration and sustainable housing 
growth planned in Northampton, Daventry and Towcester? 

• Option 1 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 49

• Option 2 

• Option 3 

• Option 4 

• None of these – an alternative option (please describe) 

Question 22: If you have selected Option 4, which of the following options 
would best meet local circumstances? 

• Option 4a 

• Option 4b 

• Option 4c 

• None of these – an alternative option (please describe) 

Question 23: Is the assumption that WNDC should have a ten year lifespan still 
correct?  

Yes 

No 

Question 24: Do WNDC’s planning powers need to be modified (in so far as the 
current law allows) in the light of experience?  If so, in what ways(s)?  

Question 25:  Should the number of local authority nominated Board members 
remain unchanged? 

Yes 

No 

Question 26:  Should provision be made for ex offico appointments to the 
Board? 

Yes 

No 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 50

7 ABOUT THIS CONSULTATION 
 
 
This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere 
to the Code of Practice on Consultation issued by the Department for Business, 
Innovation and Skills and is in line with the seven consultation criteria, which are: 

1. Formal consultation should take place at a stage when there is scope to 
influence the policy outcome; 

2. Consultations should normally last for at least 12 weeks with consideration 
given to longer timescales where feasible and sensible; 

3. Consultation documents should be clear about the consultation process, 
what is being proposed, the scope to influence and the expected costs and 
benefits of the proposals: 

4. Consultation exercises should be designed to be accessible to, and clearly 
targeted at, those people the exercise is intended to reach; 

5. Keeping the burden of consultation to a minimum is essential if 
consultations are to be effective and if consultees’ buy-in to the process is to 
be obtained; 

6. Consultation responses should be analysed carefully and clear feedback 
should be provided to participants following the consultation; 

7. Officials running consultations should seek guidance in how to run an 
effective consultation exercise and share what they have learned from the 
experience. 

Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations 
the; represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their 
conclusions when they respond. 

Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal information, 
may be published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes 
(these are primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (POIA). the Data Protection 
Act 1998 (DPA) and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004). 

If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be 
aware that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code of Practice with which public 
authorities must comply and which deals, amongst other things, with obligations of 
confidence. In view of this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you 
regard the information you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for 
disclosure of the information we will take full account of your explanation, but we 
cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be maintained in all circumstances. 
An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your IT system will not, of itself, 
be regarded as binding on the department. 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 51

The Department for Communities and Local Government will process your personal 
data in accordance with DPA and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that 
your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. 

Individual responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested. 

Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this document 
and respond. 

Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed these criteria?  If not or you have 
any other observations about how we can improve the process please contact 
 
CLG Consultation Co-ordinator  
Zone 6/H10 
Eland House  
London SW1E 5 DU  
 
or by e-mail to: consultationcoordinator@communities.gsi.gov.uk 



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/08/09/09 52

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Department for Communities and Local Government  

© Crown Copyright, February 2009 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-1572-3 
 


	Agenda
	6 West Northamptonshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee: Minutes of 6 July 2009
	7 Customer Feedback Annual Report 2008/09
	07 Customer Feedback Annual Report Appendix (2)

	8 West Northamptonshire Development Corporation (WNDC) Quinquennial Review - response to CLG consultation in respect of Urban Development Corporations

